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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.8 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
 2.2.8.2 Financial liabilities 

 
(i)  Initial recognition and measurement 
 
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into and the definition of a financial liability.  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised in the statements of financial position when, and only when, 
the Group or the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument. Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at FVTPL or amortised 
cost. 
 
(ii)  Subsequent measurement 
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 
 

(a) Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as FVTPL. 
 
Financial liabilities held for trading include derivatives entered into by the Group or the 
Company that do not meet the hedge accounting criteria. Derivative liabilities are initially 
measured at fair values and subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gains or 
losses recognised in profit or loss. Net gains or losses on derivatives include exchange 
differences. 
 

(b) Amortised cost 
 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
which allocates interest expenses at a constant rate over the term of the financial 
liabilities. The effective interest rate is calculated at initial recognition and is the rate that 
exactly discounts the estimated future cash flows (including all fees and points paid that 
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the amortised cost of a financial liability is the amount at 
initial recognition minus repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method. 
 
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as 
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process. 
 

(iii)  Derecognition 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is extinguished. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.8 Financial instruments (continued) 
 
 2.2.8.3 Offsetting of financial instruments 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
statements of financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.  
 

2.2.9 Cash and cash equivalents 
   
Cash comprises cash in hand, at bank and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or 
less. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, against which 
the bank overdrafts, if any, are deducted. 

 
2.2.10 Provisions 

  
Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will 
be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably.  
 
Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 
If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised as a finance cost. 
 

2.2.11 Leases 
 

The Group and the Company assess at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a 
lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. 
 
Group and Company as a lessee 
 
The Group and the Company apply a single recognition and measurement approach for all 
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group and the 
Company recognise lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing 
the right to use the underlying assets. 

 
(i) Right-of-use assets 
 

The Group and the Company recognise right-of-use assets at the commencement date of 
the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is available for use). The cost of right-of-use 
assets are initially recognised as the amount of lease liabilities recognised adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore 
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 
Right-of-use assets are subsequently stated at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 
 
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term 
and the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.11 Leases (continued) 
 

(ii) Lease liabilities 
 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if 
that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate which ranges 
from 3.40% to 5% (2021: 3.45% to 5%). The lease liability is subsequently increased by the 
interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payment made. In addition, the 
carrying amount of lease liability is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the 
lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the 
assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 
 

(iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group and the Company apply the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-
term leases of building (i.e. those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of 
low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to 
be low-value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are 
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

Group and Company as a lessor 
 
Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a 
straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or 
loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an 
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the 
lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in 
the period in which they are earned. 

 
2.2.12 Equity instruments         

             
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in 
the period in which they are approved for payment. 
 
The transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction from equity. 
Equity transaction costs comprise only those incremental external costs directly attributable to the 
equity transaction which would otherwise have been avoided. 
 
The consideration paid, including attributable transaction costs on repurchased ordinary shares 
of the Company that have not been cancelled, are classified as treasury shares and presented 
as a deduction from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the sale, re-issuance 
or cancellation of treasury shares. Treasury shares may be acquired and held by the Company. 
Consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.13 Contract liability 
   

A contract liability is stated at cost and represents the obligation of the Group to transfer goods or 
services to a customer for which consideration has been received (or an amount of consideration 
is due) from the customers. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or 
services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the 
payment is due (whichever is earlier). 
        
The contract liability of the Group primarily represents a part of the sale proceeds received from 
customers which relate to service maintenance in which the service has not been rendered. The 
amount of sale proceeds apportioned to service maintenance is measured at its fair value which 
is calculated based on the actual number of vehicles sold, past experience and estimated cost 
required to perform the maintenance service during the free-service-period. 
 
Contract liability is recognised as revenue when the Group performs the services under the 
contract. 
 

 Further details are disclosed in Note 17. 
 
2.2.14 Contingencies 

 
A contingent liability or asset is a possible obligation or asset that arises from past events and 
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future 
event(s) not wholly within the control of the Group or the Company. 
 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the statements of financial position of the 
Group and of the Company except for contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination of 
which the fair value can be reliably measured. 
 
Further details are disclosed in Note 34. 
 

2.2.15 Current and non-current classification 
 
The Group and the Company present assets and liabilities in statements of financial position 
based on current and non-current classification. 
 
An asset is classified as current when it is:  
(i) expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; 
(ii) held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
(iii) expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or  
(iv) cash and cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a 

liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

 
A liability is classified as current when: 
(i) it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; 
(ii) it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
(iii) it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or 
(iv) there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

after the reporting period. 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities, respectively. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.16 Revenue recognition          

 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has generally 
concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the 
goods or services before transferring them to the customer.  
 
The Group considers whether there are other promises in the contract that are separate 
performance obligations to which a portion of the transaction price needs to be allocated (e.g., 
service maintenance, warranties, non-cash consideration and consideration payable to the 
customer, if any). Depending on the terms of the contract, revenue is recognised when the 
performance obligation is satisfied, which may be at a point in time or over time. 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers is measured at its transaction price which is the amount 
of consideration that the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised 
goods or services to a customer, net of applicable taxes, returns, rebates and discounts. 
Transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation on the basis of its relative 
stand-alone selling price. 
 
If the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the Group estimates the amount of 
consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods to the customer. 
The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly 
probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will 
not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently 
resolved.  
 
The Group also provides warranties for defects that existed at the time of sale. Provisions related 
to these assurance type warranties are recognised when the product is sold or the service is 
provided to the customer. Further details of warranty provision are disclosed in Note 2.5 (i) and 
Note 18. 
 
The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers are further described below: 
 
(i) Sale of motor vehicles and spare parts 

            
Revenue from distribution and sale of vehicles is recognised when the Group transfers 
the control over the vehicles and parts to customers, being when the vehicles and parts 
are delivered to customers. The retail sales of parts normally occur during performance 
of after-sales services and is recognised at point in time. 
 
Vehicles may be sold with volume-based discounts and incentives will be given based on 
achieved targeted sales. Accumulated experience is used to estimate the discounts and 
incentives using the expected value or most likely methods depending on the type of 
discounts and incentives. Discounts and incentives are accounted for as a reduction of 
the transaction price and revenue is recognised to the extent that it is highly probable 
that a significant reversal will not occur. 

 
(ii) Rendering of services 
            

The Group provides after-sales services or routine vehicle maintenance services within 
and/or outside of the warranty period in relation to the vehicle sold.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.2.16 Revenue recognition (continued) 
 

(ii) Rendering of services (continued) 
            

The sales of vehicles to customers may be bundled together with free services. The free 
services are separate performance obligations and the transaction price is allocated to 
the service obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. Considerations 
collected from customers in advance for the free services are recognised as contract 
liabilities and will be recognised as revenue over the period when the free services are 
performed respectively. 
 
Revenue from after-sales services beyond the free service period is recognised upon the 
performance of services to customers. 
 

(iii) Other income:  
  

(a) Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis unless recoverability is in doubt; 
(b) Dividend income from investments in subsidiary and associated companies is 

recognised when the shareholders' rights to receive payment is established;  
(c) Business development fees is recognised as the services are rendered in 

accordance with the relevant agreements. This represents income arising from 
marketing, training and dealer development activities and services rendered to the 
dealers; and 

(d) Other than the above, all other income are recognised on accrual basis. 
 

 
2.2.17 Foreign currencies  

 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
 

The individual financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (i.e. functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in RM, which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. 
 

(ii)  Foreign currency transactions 
 
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies 
other than the entity’s functional currency (i.e. foreign currencies) are recorded in the 
functional currencies using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
 
At each reporting date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing on the reporting date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing on the date 
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of initial 
transaction. 

 
 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation 

of monetary items, are included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange 
differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in 
foreign operation. These are initially taken directly to the foreign currency translation 
reserve within equity until the disposal of the foreign operations, at which time they are 
recognised in profit or loss.  
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
2.2.17 Foreign currencies (continued) 

 
(ii)  Foreign currency transactions (continued) 

 
 Exchange differences arising on monetary items that form part of the Company’s net 

investment in foreign operation are recognised in profit or loss in the Company’s financial 
statements or the individual financial statements of the foreign operation, as appropriate. 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items carried at fair 
value are included in profit or loss for the period except for the differences arising on the 
translation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised 
directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such non-monetary items are also 
recognised directly in equity. 

 
(iii)  Foreign operations 
 

The results and financial position of foreign operations that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency of the consolidated financial statements are 
translated into RM as follows: 
- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are 

translated at the closing rate prevailing at the reporting date;  
- Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates for the financial 
year, which approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions; and 

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of foreign 
currency translation reserve. 

 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are 
treated as assets or liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional 
currency of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rate at the reporting date. 

 
2.2.18 Employee benefits 
 

(i)  Short term benefits 
 

Wages, salaries, incentives, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised as 
an expense in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees of 
the Group. Short-term accumulating compensated absences such as paid annual leave 
are recognised when services are rendered by employees that increase their entitlement 
to future compensated absences. Short term non-accumulating compensated absences 
such as sick leave are recognised when the absences occur. 

 
(ii)  Defined contribution plans 
 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group 
pays fixed contributions into separate entities or funds and will have no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if any of the funds do not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in the current 
and preceding financial years. Such contributions are recognised as an expense in profit 
or loss as incurred. As required by law, companies in Malaysia make such contributions 
to the Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). The foreign subsidiary company of the Group 
also makes contributions to its country’s statutory pension scheme. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.18 Employee benefits (continued) 

 
(iii)  Employees’ share scheme  

 
Employees of the Group and of the Company received remuneration in the form of share 
options as consideration for services rendered. The cost of these equity-settled 
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the shares and 
share options at the date on which the options are granted. This cost is recognised in 
profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee share scheme reserve over 
the vesting period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the 
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s 
and the Company’s best estimate of the number of shares and share options that will 
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the 
movement in cumulative expense recognised at the beginning and end of the period. 
 
No expense is recognised for shares and share options that do not ultimately vest, 
except for those where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, 
which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting 
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are 
satisfied. The employee share scheme reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon 
expiry of the shares and share options. When the options are exercised, the employee 
share scheme reserve relating to the exercised options is transferred to share capital if 
new shares are issued, or to treasury shares if the options are satisfied by the reissuance 
of treasury shares. When the options are forfeited, the employee share option reserve 
relating to the forfeited options is transferred to share capital. 
 

2.2.19 Taxes 
             

(i) Current tax 
 

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 
amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  
 
Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to 
items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. 

       
(ii) Deferred tax  

 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 
- where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and 

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiary companies and associates, where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.19 Taxes (continued) 
             

(ii) Deferred tax (continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and 
the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:  
- where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference 

arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and  

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiary companies and associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to 
the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the 
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.  

 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax 
assets to be utilised.   
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to 
apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates 
and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit 
or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction 
either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a 
business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 
Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for 
separate recognition at that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about 
facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is either treated as a reduction in 
goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the 
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.2.19 Taxes (continued) 

 
(iii) Value Added Tax (“VAT”) 

 
Where the VAT incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
respective taxation authorities, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item as applicable. 
 
The net amount of VAT being the difference between output and input of VAT, payable to 
or receivable from the respective authorities at the reporting date, is included in trade and 
other payables or trade and other receivables in the statements of financial position. 
 

(iv) Sales and Service Tax (“SST”) 
 
Revenue are recognised net of the amount of SST. The SST incurred in a purchase of 
assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the SST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as 
applicable.  
 
The amount of service tax payable to the taxation authority is included as part of 
payables in the statements of financial position. 
 

2.2.20 Segmental reporting  
 

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on the 
geographical locations which are independently managed by the respective segment managers 
responsible for the performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment 
managers report directly to the management of the Group who regularly review the segment 
results in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess the segment performance. 

 
Segment revenues and expenses are those directly attributable to the segments and include any 
joint revenue and expenses where a reasonable basis of allocation exists. Revenue and 
expenses do not include items arising on investing or financing activities. Revenue is attributed to 
geographical segments based on location where the sales are transacted. Segment assets 
include all operating assets used by a segment and do not include items arising on investing or 
financing activities. Assets are allocated to a geographical segment based on location of assets. 
Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and do not include liabilities arising on investing 
or financing activities such as bank borrowings. 

 
2.2.21 Borrowing costs  
 

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing 
costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in 
progress and the expenditure and borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised 
until the assets are substantially completed for their intended use or sale. 
 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period they are incurred. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Group incurred in connection with the 
borrowing of funds. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
2.3 Changes in accounting policies 
 

On 1 May 2021, the Group and the Company adopted the following Amendments to MFRSs that 
have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board:    
 
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 4: Insurance Contracts (Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - 
Phase 2) 

• Amendments to MFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Interest Rate Benchmark 
Reform – Phase 2) 

• Amendments to MFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - 
Phase 2) 

• Amendments to MFRS 16: Leases (Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2) 
• Amendments to MFRS 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 

(Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2) 
 
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 16: Leases (COVID-19 – Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 
June 2021) 

 
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 1: First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting 
Standards (Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2018-2020) 

• Amendments to MFRS 3: Business Combinations (Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework) 

• Amendments to MFRS 9: Financial Instruments (Annual Improvements to MFRS 
Standards 2018-2020) 

• Amendments to MFRS 116: Property, Plant and Equipment (Proceeds before Intended 
Use) 

• Amendments to MFRS 137: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
(Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract)  

 
The adoption of the above standards did not have any significant financial impact to the Group 
and the Company. 

 
2.4       Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective 
 
 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following new MFRS, Amendments 

to MFRSs and Annual Improvements to MFRSs were issued but not yet effective and have not 
been early adopted by the Group and the Company. 

  
Effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023: 
 

• MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 
• Amendments to MFRS 17: Insurance Contracts 
• Amendments to MFRS 101: Presentation of Financial Statements (Classification of 

Liabilities as Current or Non-current) 
• Amendments to MFRS 101: Presentation of Financial Statements (Disclosure of 

Accounting Policies) 
• Amendments to MFRS 108: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 

Errors (Definition of Accounting Estimates) 
• Amendments to MFRS 112: Income Taxes (Deferred Tax related to Assets and 

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction) 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.4       Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued) 
 

Effective date yet to be determined: 
 

• Amendments to MFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements (Sale or Contribution of 
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture) 

• Amendments to MFRS 128: Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture) 

 
The Group and the Company are expected to apply the new MFRS, Amendments to MFRSs and 
Annual Improvements to MFRSs beginning from the respective dates the pronouncements 
become effective. The initial application of the abovementioned new MFRS, Annual 
Improvements to MFRSs and Amendments to MFRSs are not expected to have any material 
impact to the financial statements of the Group and of the Company. 
 

2.5 Significant accounting estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of the Group's and of the Company’s financial statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the reporting date. 
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future. 
 
No major judgements have been made by management in applying the Group’s and the 
Company’s accounting policies. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are set out below: 
 

(i) Provision for warranty  
 

A provision is made for expected warranty claims on vehicles sold during the period, 
based on past experience of the level of repairs of similar type of vehicles. Assumptions 
used to calculate the provision for warranty were based on sales levels, past and current 
information available about repairs performed during warranty periods for similar vehicle 
types sold. 

          
The carrying amount of the Group’s provision of warranty at the reporting date was 
RM70,351,000 (2021: RM63,602,000). Further details are as disclosed in Note 18. 
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2.5 Significant accounting estimates and judgements (continued) 
  
 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

 
(ii) Contract liability       

            
The Group provides free maintenance service package for 3 years (limited to 60,000 
kilometres) or 5 years (limited to 100,000 kilometres) on certain Mazda models, 3 years 
(limited to 60,000 kilometres) on Peugeot models and 5 years (limited to 100,000 
kilometres) on Kia models.  
 
Commencing from 1 January 2019, all completely knock-down (“CKD”) and completely 
built-up (“CBU”) Mazda models (except BT-50) sold are provided with free maintenance 
service for a period of 5 years or attainment of 100,000 kilometres, whichever is the 
earlier. 

 
In the previous financial year, all CKD and CBU models (except BT-50) sold between 
July 2020 to December 2020 is entitled to 6-year free maintenance service or upon 
attainment of 120,000 kilometres, whichever comes first. Vehicles sold during other 
periods in the financial year were entitled to the normal 5-year free maintenance service. 

    
Contract liability represents a part of the sale proceeds received from customers which 
relates to maintenance service in which the service has not been rendered. The amount 
of sale proceeds apportioned to service maintenance is measured at its fair value which 
is calculated based on the actual number of vehicles sold, past maintenance service 
performed and estimated charges to customers. Contract liability are recognised as 
revenue when the Group performs the service under the contract. Details of contract 
liability are disclosed in Note 17. 

 
(iii) Provision for incentives 
          

The Group provides sales incentives for car dealers who achieve cumulative sales target 
level. The incentive entitlement is communicated to the dealers periodically and are paid 
during and/or after the financial year end. The provision for sales incentive is based on 
the car dealers' progress towards achieving their agreed annual sales targets. 
 

(iv) Allowance for ECL of trade receivables 
 

The Group has applied the simplified approach to calculate expected credit losses which 
uses a lifetime expected loss allowance on all trade receivables. The Group's provision 
matrix is based on its historical credit loss experience with trade receivables of similar 
credit risk characteristics. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade 
receivables is disclosed in Note 10. 
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Company

2022 Computers
At Net Carrying Amount RM'000

At beginning of year -                            
Additions 9                            
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 24) (2)                          
At end of year 7                            

2021
At Net Carrying Amount

At beginning of year 7                            
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 24) (7)                          
At end of year -                            

As at 30 April 2022
Cost 35                          
Accumulated depreciation (28)                        
Net carrying amount 7                            

As at 30 April 2021
Cost 26                          
Accumulated depreciation (26)                        
Net carrying amount -                            

 
 
4. OTHER INVESTMENT 
  

 Group
2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000
At fair value through other comprehensive income:
Unquoted shares outside Malaysia -                            139                        

At beginning of year 139                        2,771                     
Acquisition during the year 6,888                     136                        
Impairment loss -                            (2,759)                   
Reclassified to investment in associated companies (7,024)                   -                            
Exchange differences (3)                          (9)                          
At end of year -                            139                        
 
In December 2017, Bermaz Auto Philippines Inc. (“BAP”) acquired shares of stock of a newly 
incorporated entity, Berjaya Auto Asia, Inc. (“BAAI”). In January 2021, BAP made additional investment of 
RM0.136 million, totalling investment of RM0.139 million as at 30 April 2021. 
 
During the year, BAP has acquired additional shares of stocks of BAAI which resulted in the increase in 
percentage of ownership from 19.00% to 44.58%. With the 44.58% ownership in BAAI, management 
assessed that it has significant influence over the entity and reclassified the total investment in BAAI to 
investment in associate as at 30 April 2022. 
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5.  SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted shares in Malaysia, at cost 514,229         507,251         
ESS granted to employees of subsidiary companies 33,859           32,190           

548,088         539,441         

Company

During the current financial year: 
  

a. On 8 June 2021, the Group acquired an additional 4,200,000 ordinary shares representing 35% 
equity interest in Bermaz Auto Alliance Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Berjaya Auto Alliance Sdn. 
Bhd.) ("BAASB") from Berjaya Corporation Berhad for a cash consideration of RM4,578,000 or at 
RM1.09 per share. As a result, BAASB which was previously an associated company is now a 
55% owned subsidiary of Bermaz Auto Berhad. The principal activities of BAASB are distribution 
and retailing of Peugeot motor vehicles as well as retailing of parts and the provision of after-
sales services for Peugeot, Citroen and DS marque vehicles in Malaysia. 

 
The fair values of the assets and liabilities of the acquisition as the date of acquisition are as 
follows: 

RM'000
Non-current assets excluding intangible assets 10,284           
Current assets 63,123           

73,407           

Non-current liabilities 11,956           
Current liabilities 45,961           

57,917           

Net assets acquired 15,490           
Less: Non-controlling interests (6,971)            
Group’s share of net assets acquired 8,519             
Carrying amount of the equity interest 

previously owned at the date of acquisition (2,680)            
Loss on remeasurement (Note 24) 64                  
Less: Fair value of the equity interests 

previously owned at the date of acquisition (2,616)            
Total cost of acquisition 5,903             
Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary (1,325)            
Total cost of acquisition 4,578             

The net cash flows on acquisition were as follows:

RM'000
Purchase consideration satisfied by cash (4,578)            
Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary company acquired 7,929             
Net cash inflow on acquisition of a subsidiary company 3,351             

 
From the date of acquisition, BAASB contributed RM163 million of revenue and RM4 million to 
profit before tax of the Group. If the combination had taken place at the beginning of financial 
year 2022, the Group’s revenue would have been RM2,331 million and the profit before tax 
would have been RM218 million. 

 
b. On 9 November 2021, the Group had acquired 100 ordinary shares representing 100% equity 

interest in Bermaz Anshin Sdn. Bhd for a total consideration of RM100. 
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5.  SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 The Group’s equity interests in the subsidiary companies, their respective principal activities and country 
of incorporation are shown below: 

 

% % % %
Name Principal activities 2022 2021 2022 2021

Subsidiaries of the Company

Bermaz Motor Sdn. Bhd. 100.00         100.00         -                  -                  

   under licence in Malaysia.

Dinamikjaya Motors Sdn. Bhd. 65.00           65.00           35.00          35.00          

   provision of after sales services
   in respect thereof in Malaysia.

Bermaz Auto Parts Sdn. Bhd. 51.00           51.00           49.00          49.00          

   sales services in Malaysia.

Bermaz Auto Alliance Sdn. Bhd. 55.00           -                   45.00          -                  
(formerly known as Berjaya Auto 
Alliance Sdn. Bhd.) ("BAASB") #    provision of after sales services in 

   respect thereof in Malaysia.

Bermaz Anshin Sdn. Bhd. Dormant 100.00         -                   -                  -                  

Subsidiaries of Bermaz Motor Sdn Bhd

Bermaz Motor Trading Sdn. Bhd. 100.00         100.00         -                  -                  

   provision of after sales services
   in respect thereof in Malaysia.

Bermaz Motor International Ltd. Investment holding. 100.00         100.00         -                  -                  

Subsidiary of Bermaz Motor International Ltd

Bermaz Auto Philippines Inc. ("BAP")* 60.39           60.39           39.61          39.61          

   dealers in the Philippines.

Malaysia

Philippines Distribution of Mazda vehicles

Malaysia

Country of

   distribution of Mazda vehicles 

Distribution and retailing of new 
   and used Mazda vehicles and the 

incorporation

Distribution and retailing of new 
   and used Kia vehicles and the 

Distribution and retailing of automotive 
   spare parts and provision of after-

Distribution and retailing of new and 
   used Peugeot vehicles and the 

Malaysia Investment holding and 

Malaysia

Malaysia

Malaysia

   and spare parts through appointed

Effective interest held by

Group^
Non-controlling 

interests^

Malaysia

 
Notes: 

 * Audited by affiliates of Ernst & Young PLT Malaysia. 
 ^ Equals to the proportion of voting rights held. 
  # BAASB which was previously a 20% owned associated company is now a 55% owned subsidiary      

of Bermaz Auto Berhad.
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5.  SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Subsidiary companies with material non-controlling interests 
 
Summarised financial information of subsidiary companies which have non-controlling interests that are 
material to the Group is set out below. The summarised financial information presented below are 
amounts before inter-company elimination.  
 

BAASB
Group 2022 2022 2021
At 30 April RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-current assets 14,678          62,733           59,878           
Current assets 84,339          136,693         155,914         
Non-current liabilities (17,445)         (32,313)          (34,111)          
Current liabilities (65,554)         (65,002)          (65,001)          
Net assets 16,018          102,111         116,680         

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 8,810            57,071           71,763           
Non-controlling interests 7,208            45,040           44,917           
Total equity 16,018          102,111         116,680         

Year ended 30 April 

Revenue 163,017        184,384         169,940         

Profit/(Loss) for the year 2,618            2,850             (12,248)          
Other comprehensive loss -                    (2,615)            (3,513)            
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 2,618            235                (15,761)          

Profit/(Loss) attributable to:
- Owners of the parent 1,440            1,721             (7,397)            
- Non-controlling interests 1,178            1,129             (4,851)            

2,618            2,850             (12,248)          

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
- Owners of the parent 1,440            142                (9,514)            
- Non-controlling interests 1,178            93                  (6,247)            

2,618            235                (15,761)          

Year ended 30 April 

Net cash generated from/(used in):
Operating activities 6,702            26,940           18,101           
Investing activities (37,882)         (2,671)            793                
Financing activities 61,882          (2,159)            (2,394)            
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 30,702          22,110           16,500           

BAP
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6. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Unquoted shares in Malaysia, at cost 95,875              71,531          63,631           46,031           
Group's share of post-acquisition reserves 179,826            161,775        -                     -                     

275,701            233,306        63,631           46,031           

Group Company

During the current financial year: 
 

a. On 8 June 2021, the Group acquired a further 35% equity interest in BAASB from one of its 
existing shareholders which resulted in BAASB becoming a 55% owned subsidiary of the 
Company. Further details are disclosed in Note 5. 
 

b. On 17 June 2021, 16 November 2021 and 20 January 2022, the Group subscribed for additional 
999, 7,999,000 and 12,000,000 ordinary shares at RM1.00 each respectively. As at 30 April 
2022, the Group has subscribed for a total of 20 million ordinary shares with total consideration 
of RM20 million, representing an equity interest of 33.33% in Kia Malaysia Sdn Bhd ("KMSB"). 
 

c. In December 2017, Bermaz Auto Philippines Inc. (“BAP”) acquired shares of stock of a newly 
incorporated entity, Berjaya Auto Asia, Inc. (“BAAI”). In January 2021, BAP made additional 
investment of RM0.136 million, totalling investment of RM0.139 million as at 30 April 2021. 

 
On 6 December 2021, the Group subscribed for a total of 84,541,044 shares for RM6.9 million 
which resulted in the increase in percentage of ownership from 19.00% to 44.58%. With the 
44.58% ownership in BAAI, management assessed that it has significant influence over the entity 
and reclassified the total investment in BAAI to investment in associate as at 30 April 2022. 
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6. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The Group’s equity interest in the associated companies, their respective principal activities and country 
of incorporation are shown below: 
 

Name Principal activities 2022 2021
Associated companies of the Company

Inokom Corporation Sdn. Bhd. 29.00 29.00
("INOKOM") *

   vehicles.

Bermaz Auto Alliance Sdn. Bhd. -                   20.00
(formerly known as Berjaya Auto 
Alliance Sdn. Bhd.) ("BAASB")    provision of after sales services in 

   respect thereof in Malaysia.

Kia Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. ("KMSB") 33.33 33.33

Associated company of Bermaz Motor Sdn Bhd

Mazda Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. ("MMSB") * 30.00           30.00           

Associated company of Bermaz Auto Philippines Inc.

Berjaya Auto Asia Inc. ("BAAI")* 44.58           19.00           

ownership interest (%)
Proportion of

Malaysia

incorporation

   Mazda supplied parts and

   Bermaz Motor Sdn Bhd and 
   export of Mazda vehicles 

Malaysia

   domestic distribution through

Local assembly of Mazda vehicles
   by third party contract assembler

   assembled in Malaysia.

   using local parts and imported 

Manufacturing and assembly of light

   vehicles assembled in Malaysia.
   Motors Sdn Bhd and export of Kia

   commercial and passenger vehicles,
   and contract assembly of passenger

Distribution and retailing of new and 
   used Peugeot vehicles and the 

Local assembly of Kia vehicles by
   third party contract assembler
   using local parts and imported 
   Kia supplied parts and domestic
   distribution through Dinamikjaya 

Country of

Malaysia

Malaysia

Philippines
   vehicles and the sale of parts and 
   accessories in the Philippines.

Distribution and retailing of Kaicene 

Note: 
 * Audited by other firms of chartered accountants. 

 
The financial year end of INOKOM, KMSB, MMSB and BAAI are 30 June, 31 December, 31 March and 
30 April respectively. BAASB’s financial year end is 30 April and previous financial year end was 30 
June. The results of the associated companies are accounted for in the Group’s financial statements 
under the equity method, based on the most recently available audited financial statements and 
supplemented by the unaudited management financial statements of the associated companies made up 
to the Group’s financial year end. 
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6. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (CONTINUED) 
  
Summarised financial information in respect of the material associated companies is set out below. The 
summarised financial information represents the amounts in the financial statements of the associated 
companies and not the Group’s share of those amounts.  

 
Group INOKOM MMSB Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2022
Non-current assets 238,520        129,901         368,421          
Current assets 106,516        608,734         715,250          
Non-current liabilities (7,035)           (16,228)          (23,263)           
Current liabilities (93,261)         (169,691)        (262,952)         
Net assets 244,740        552,716         797,456          

Equity attributable to:
Owners of the associated company 173,766        386,901         560,667          
Non-controlling interests of the associated company 70,974          165,815         236,789          
Total equity 244,740        552,716         797,456          

Revenue 171,011        1,129,134      1,300,145       
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income 27,704          42,305           70,009            
Profit for the year/Total comprehensive income attributable to:
- owners of the associated company 19,670          29,101           48,771            
- non-controlling interests of the associated company 8,034            13,204           21,238            

27,704          42,305           70,009            

Group INOKOM MMSB Total
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2021
Non-current assets 170,574        150,530         321,104          
Current assets 82,320          537,971         620,291          
Non-current liabilities (791)              (19,794)          (20,585)           
Current liabilities (35,067)         (158,296)        (193,363)         
Net assets 217,036        510,411         727,447          

Equity attributable to:
Owners of the associated company 154,096        357,288         511,384          
Non-controlling interests of the associated company 62,940          153,123         216,063          
Total equity 217,036        510,411         727,447          

Revenue 152,815        1,068,961      1,221,776       
Profit for the year, representing total comprehensive income 23,269          31,309           54,578            
Profit for the year/Total comprehensive income attributable to:
- owners of the associated company 16,521          19,827           36,348            
- non-controlling interests of the associated company 6,748            11,482           18,230            

23,269          31,309           54,578            
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6. ASSOCIATED COMPANIES (CONTINUED) 
  

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented above to the carrying amount of the 
Group’s interest in the associated companies: 
 
Group INOKOM MMSB Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2022
Attributable to the owners of associated companies:
Net assets at beginning of year 217,036        510,411         727,447          
Profit for the year 27,704          42,305           70,009            
Net assets at end of year 244,740        552,716         797,456          

Group's interest in associated companies (net of unrealised 
  profit on transactions with associated company) 70,974          165,655         236,629          
Goodwill 13,224          -                     13,224            
Carrying value of Group's interest in associated companies 84,198          165,655         249,853          

 
Group INOKOM MMSB Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2021
Attributable to the owners of associated companies:
Net assets at beginning of year 193,767        479,102         672,869          
Profit for the year 23,269          31,309           54,578            
Net assets at end of year 217,036        510,411         727,447          

Group's interest in associated companies (net of unrealised 
  profit on transactions with associated company) 62,940          152,451         215,391          
Goodwill 13,224          -                     13,224            
Carrying value of Group's interest in associated companies 76,164          152,451         228,615          

 
7. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At beginning of year 74,726           62,847          
Acquisition of a subsidiary 1,105             -                   
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 26) 6,485             11,941          
Exchange differences (236)               (62)                
At end of year 82,080           74,726          

Group

 Presented after appropriate offsetting as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Deferred tax assets 82,080           74,726          

Group
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7. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 

The components and movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the financial year are as 
follows: 
 

 

Group Deferred Provisions
revenue and others Total

Deferred tax assets RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022
At beginning of year 43,766          31,143          74,909          
Acquisition of a subsidiary 371               759               1,130            
Recognised in profit or loss 9,281            (2,315)           6,966            
Exchange differences (86)                (150)              (236)              
At end of year 53,332          29,437          82,769          

Set-off against deferred tax liabilities (689)              
82,080          

2021
At beginning of year 33,028          29,974          63,002          
Recognised in profit or loss 10,765          1,204            11,969          
Exchange differences (27)                (35)                (62)                
At end of year 43,766          31,143          74,909          

Set-off against deferred tax liabilities (183)              
74,726          

 
Group Accelerated

capital
Deferred tax liabilities allowances

RM'000
2022
At beginning of year (183)              
Acquisition of a subsidiary (25)                
Recognised in profit or loss (481)              
At end of year (689)              
Set-off against deferred tax assets 689               

-                    
2021
At beginning of year (155)              
Recognised in profit or loss (28)                
At end of year (183)              
Set-off against deferred tax assets 183               

-                    
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8.  GOODWILL 
   

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At beginning/end of year 500                500                

Group

 
Goodwill relates to the excess of the purchase consideration over the total value of the assets and 
liabilities of a subsidiary, principally engaged in automotive segment in Malaysia, that was acquired in 
prior years.  

 
 
9. INVENTORIES 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At cost:
Motor vehicles ready for sale 154,860         207,819         
Spare parts 27,646           19,245           

182,506         227,064         
At net realisable value:
Motor vehicles ready for sale 24,670           39,530           
Spare parts 9,534             11,222           

34,204           50,752           
216,710         277,816         

Group

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the financial year in the Group amounted to 
RM1,930,756,000 (2021: RM1,971,645,000). 

 
      
10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
  

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Trade receivables 102,982            102,493        -                     -                     
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss (1,315)               (4,229)           -                     -                     

101,667            98,264          -                     -                     

Other receivables
Deposits 4,439                6,579            60                  -                     
Sundry receivables 31,394              28,911          72                  191                
Amount owing by a subsidiary -                       -                    190,568         202,250         
Amount owing by associated companies 247                   622               -                     -                     

36,080              36,112          190,700         202,441         
137,747            134,376        190,700         202,441         

Other current assets
Prepayments 22,806              4,407            1,071             1,198             
Input VAT (net) 2,645                9,668            -                     -                     
Dividend from a subsidiary company -                       -                    55,000           55,000           

25,451              14,075          56,071           56,198           
163,198            148,451        246,771         258,639         

Group Company
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)  
 

(a)  Trade receivables 
 

The Group’s normal credit term ranges from 30 to 90 (2021: 30 to 90) days. Other credit terms are 
assessed and approved on a case-by-case basis. 

 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposure to a single 
debtor or to groups of trade receivables, other than an amount of RM3,854,000 (2021: 
RM8,876,000) due from a trade debtor.  

 
 Ageing analysis of trade receivables 

 
 The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables is as follows: 
 

 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Neither past due nor impaired 96,435           92,098           
1 to 30 days past due not impaired 2,914             2,216             
31 to 60 days past due not impaired 608                1,335             
61 to 90 days past due not impaired 1,710             2,615             
91 to 120 days past due not impaired -                     -                     

5,232             6,166             
Expected credit loss 1,315             4,229             

102,982         102,493         

Group

 
Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired 

 
Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with good 
payment records with the Group. 
 
Receivables that are past due but not impaired 
 
The Group has trade receivables amounting to RM5,232,000 (2021: RM6,166,000) that are past 
due at the reporting date but not impaired. This includes mainly trade receivables past due for 
technical or strategic reasons and there is no concern on the credit worthiness of the counter 
parties and the recoverability of these debts. 
 
Receivables that are impaired 
 
The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the reporting date and the movement of the 
allowance accounts used to record the impairment are as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Trade receivables - nominal amounts 1,315             4,229             
Less:  Allowance for expected credit loss (1,315)            (4,229)            

-                     -                     

Group
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10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 
(a)  Trade receivables (continued) 
 

Receivables that are impaired (continued) 
 
Movement in allowance accounts:

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At beginning of year 4,229             5,812             
Written off (2,312)            -                     
Reversal for the year (Note 24) (602)               (1,583)            
At end of year 1,315             4,229             

Group

 
The Group performed impairment analysis at each reporting date using a provision matrix that is 
based on its historical credit loss experience to measure expected credit losses.  
 
However, in certain cases, the Group also perform impairment assessment on trade receivables 
individually. Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date 
relate to debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These 
receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.  
 

(b) Other receivables 
 

The amount owing by a subsidiary company is non-trade in nature, unsecured, repayable on 
demand and bear interest at 2.92% (2021: 3.44%) per annum. The amount owing by associated 
companies is non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. All 
the sundry receivables and deposits are unsecured and non-interest bearing. 
 
In the previous financial year, the sundry receivables consist of advances to Ssangyong Berjaya 
Motor Philippines (“SBMP”) for its working capital requirements of which the Group has recognised 
impairment loss amounting to RM5,965,000 as management assessed that this is not recoverable. 
 

 
11. DERIVATIVE LIABILITIES 

Contract Derivative Contract Derivative
amount Liabilities amount Liabilities
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Non-hedging derivatives
Current
Forward currency contracts 11,706              (968)              -                     -                     

Group
2022 2021

The Group uses forward currency contracts to manage some of the transaction exposure. These 
contracts are not designated as cash flow or fair value hedges and are entered into for periods consistent 
with currency transaction exposure and fair value changes exposure. Such derivatives do not qualify for 
hedge accounting. 
 
Forward currency contracts are used to hedge certain of the Group’s purchases denominated in 
Japanese Yen for firm commitments existed at the reporting date. The fair value changes relating to 
those forward currency contracts outstanding at the reporting date resulted in the recognition of derivative 
liabilities for the current financial year. 
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12. DEPOSITS WITH FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 
  

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Deposits with:
Licensed banks 521,964            477,685        8,203             29,336           

CompanyGroup

The range of interest rates per annum and maturities of deposits as at reporting date were as follows: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021

Interest rates per annum (%)
Licensed banks 1.68 - 2.00 1.50 - 1.80 1.80 - 2.00 1.40 - 1.80

Maturities (days)
Licensed banks 1 - 78 1 - 76 1 - 78 4 - 76

Group Company

 
13. CASH AND BANK BALANCES   
      

Certain cash at banks of the Group and of the Company earn interest based on daily bank deposit rates. 
 
 
14. SHARE CAPITAL   
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
'000 '000 RM'000 RM'000

Issued and fully paid:
At beginning of year 1,163,927         1,163,549     609,341         608,823         
Issuance of shares
   pursuant to ESS shares vested 32                     378               46                  480                
Employees' share options exercised -                       -                    9                    -                     
Employees' share options forfeited/expired -                       -                    47                  38                  
At end of year 1,163,959         1,163,927     609,443         609,341         

Group and Company
Number of shares Share capital

The holders of ordinary shares (other than treasury shares) are entitled to receive dividends as declared 
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All the ordinary 
shares (other than treasury shares) rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets. 

 
During the financial year, the Company increased its share capital from RM609,340,836 to 
RM609,442,494 by way of:   

 
a) the issuance of 32,200 new ordinary shares at an issue price of RM1.43 per share pursuant to the 

exercise of the options under the ESS; and 
 
b) the inclusion of RM55,612 from employees’ share plan reserves as the paid-up share capital upon 

the forfeiture of the ESS of RM47,079 and upon the exercise of ESS of RM8,533. 
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15. RESERVES  
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Merger deficit (Note a) (424,000)           (424,000)       -                     -                     
Employee share plan reserve (Note b) 7,331                7,065            7,331             7,065             
Consolidation reserve (Note c) 32,981              32,981          -                     -                     
Exchange reserve (Note d) (485)                  1,125            -                     -                     
FVTOCI reserve (Note e) (1,666)               (1,666)           -                     -                     

(385,839)           (384,495)       7,331             7,065             
Retained earnings (Note f) 412,877            344,505        59,350           42,376           

27,038              (39,990)         66,681           49,441           

Group Company

Notes: 
 
(a) Merger deficit 

 
Merger deficit represents the difference between the cost of acquisition and the nominal value of 
the share capital and reserves of the subsidiary company acquired in prior years. 
 

(b) Employee share plan reserve 
 
The employee share plan reserve represents the equity-settled shares and share options granted 
to certain directors and employees of the Group. The employee share plan reserve is made up of 
the cumulative value of services received from those directors and employees recorded over the 
vesting period commencing from the grant date of the shares and share options and is reduced by 
the expiry, forfeiture or exercise of the share options. 
 

(c) Consolidation reserve 
 
The consolidation reserve comprises the consolidation effects of changes in the Group’s equity 
interests in a subsidiary company which does not result in loss of control. 
 

(d) Exchange reserve 
 
The exchange reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign operation whose functional currency is different from the Group’s 
presentation currency. 
 

(e) FVTOCI reserve 
 
The FVTOCI reserve arose mainly from the recognition of impairment loss in investment of the 
Group in SBMP.  
 

(f) Retained earnings 
 
The entire retained earnings of the Company is available for distribution as single-tier dividends. 
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16. TREASURY SHARES  

 

2022 2021 2022 2021
Number of Number of 

shares shares
'000 '000 RM'000 RM'000

At beginning of year 2,499                1,369            3,934             2,602             
Shares bought back during the year -                       1,130            -                     1,332             
Reissued for ESS shares vested (733)                  -                    (1,153)            -                     
At end of year 1,766                2,499            2,781             3,934             

Group and Company
Ordinary shares

Pursuant to an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) held on 7 October 2021, the Company has renewed the 
mandate relating to the share buyback of up to 10% of the existing share capital. 

 
 During the year, 732,600 shares were reissued for the vesting of ESS shares.  
 

In the prior financial year, the Company bought back 1,130,000 shares from the open market for 
approximately RM1,332,000 or at an average price of RM1.18 per share with internal generated funds. 
The shares bought back are held as treasury shares and none of the shares were cancelled.  

 
 
17. CONTRACT LIABILITY  

  
The Group provides free maintenance service package for 3 years (limited to 60,000 kilometres) or 5 
years (limited to 100,000 kilometres) on certain Mazda models, 3 years (limited to 60,000 kilometres) on 
Peugeot models and 5 years (limited to 100,000 kilometres) on Kia models. 
 
Commencing from 1 January 2019, all CKD and CBU Mazda models (except BT-50) sold are provided 
with a free maintenance service for a period of 5 years or attainment of 100,000 kilometres, whichever is 
the earlier. 
 
In the previous financial year, all CKD and CBU models (except BT-50) sold between July 2020 to 
December 2020 is entitled to 6-year free maintenance service or upon attainment of 120,000 kilometres, 
whichever comes first. Vehicles sold during other periods in the financial year were entitled to the normal 
5-year free maintenance service. 

 
In the Philippines, the Company provides free maintenance package for 3 years or attainment of 60,000 
kilometres, whichever is earlier. Commencing from 1 May 2020, all models sold are provided with free 
maintenance package for a period of 5 years or attainment of 100,000 kilometres, whichever is earlier. 

 
Contract liability represents a part of the sale proceeds received from customers which relates to service 
maintenance in which the service has not been rendered. The amount of sales proceeds apportioned to 
service maintenance is measured at its fair value which is calculated based on the actual number of 
vehicles sold, past maintenance service performed and estimated charges to customers. 
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17. CONTRACT LIABILITY (CONTINUED) 
  

 
2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

At beginning of year 181,797         135,035         
Acquisition of a subsidiary 1,544             -                     
Deferred during the year 85,396           99,109           
Recognised during the year (46,817)          (52,250)          
Exchange difference (342)               (97)                 
At end of year 221,578         181,797         

Group

 
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially 
unsatisfied) as at financial year end are as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At end of year:
Within a year 56,760           51,777           
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 164,818         130,020         

221,578         181,797         

Group

Contract liability is reassessed annually based on the actual service claims from the vehicles previously 
sold. Any estimated apportioned service maintenance relating to contract liability exceeding the amount 
necessary to cover the service claims on motor vehicles sold is recognised as revenue during the year. 
 
Set out below is the amount of revenue recognised from: 
 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Amounts included in contract liability at the beginning of the year 44,116           49,339           

Group

 
 
18. PROVISIONS 
 
 

for for Restoration
Incentives Warranty cost Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2022
At beginning of year 8,937         63,602           3,821             76,360       
Acquisition of a subsidiary -                 699                -                    699            
Additional provision 12,878       20,463           -                    33,341       
Reversal during the year (2,107)        (2,062)            -                    (4,169)        
Utilisation of provision (17,832)      (12,196)          -                    (30,028)      
Unwinding of discount (Note 23) -                 -                     177                177            
Exchange difference -                 (155)               -                    (155)           
At end of year 1,876         70,351           3,998             76,225       

2022
Current 1,876         19,666           -                    21,542       
Non-current -                 50,685           3,998             54,683       

1,876         70,351           3,998             76,225       

Group
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18. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

for for Restoration
Incentives Warranty cost Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2021
At beginning of year 8,302         53,430           3,639             65,371       
Additional provision 14,800       26,518           -                    41,318       
Reversal during the year (2,123)        (4,745)            -                    (6,868)        
Utilisation of provision (12,042)      (11,535)          -                    (23,577)      
Unwinding of discount (Note 23) -                 -                     182                182            
Exchange difference -                 (66)                 -                    (66)             
At end of year 8,937         63,602           3,821             76,360       

2021
Current 8,937         18,333           -                    27,270       
Non-current -                 45,269           3,821             49,090       

8,937         63,602           3,821             76,360       

Group

Notes: 
 
(a)  Incentives 
 

The Group provides sales incentives for car dealers such as registration incentives and volume 
incentives for dealers who achieve cumulative sales target level. The incentive entitlement is 
communicated to the dealers periodically and are paid during and/or after financial year end. The 
provision for sales incentive is based on the car dealers’ progress towards achieving their agreed 
annual sales targets. 
 

(b)  Warranty 
 

 Mazda 
 
  In Malaysia, the Group provides warranty periods of 5 years or attainment of 100,000 kilometres, 

whichever is earlier, on locally assembled vehicles and undertakes to repair or replace parts that 
fail to perform satisfactorily. For imported vehicles, the manufacturer gives to the Group’s 
customers a warranty period of 3 years or attainment of 100,000 kilometres, whichever is earlier. 
The Group extends an additional warranty period of 2 years in addition to the 3 years provided by 
the manufacturer. 

 
In the previous financial year, all CKD and CBU models (except BT-50) sold between July 2020 
to December 2020 is entitled to 6-year free maintenance service or upon attainment of 120,000 
kilometres, whichever comes first. Vehicles sold during other periods in the financial year were 
entitled to the normal 5-year free maintenance service. 

 
 In the Philippines, the Company provides product warranty for a period of 3 years or attainment 

of 100,000 kilometres, whichever is earlier for all types of Mazda models. The Company gives the 
three-year product warranty (limited to the attainment of 100,000 kilometres) prior to January 
2020. Effective for January 2020, the warranty period of 3 years is provided by the manufacturer. 

 
 A provision is made for expected warranty claims on vehicles sold during the year, based on past 

experience of the level of repairs of similar type of vehicles. Assumptions used to calculate the 
provision for warranty were based on sales levels, past and current information available about 
repairs performed during warranty periods for similar type of vehicles sold. 

 
Kia 

 
 The manufacturer gives to the Group’s customers a warranty period of 5 years or attainment of 

100,000 kilometres, whichever is earlier. 
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18. PROVISIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

Notes: (continued) 
 

(b)  Warranty (continued) 
 
Peugeot 
 
The manufacturer gives to the Group’s customers a warranty period of 3 years or attainment of 
100,000 kilometres, whichever is earlier for locally assembled vehicles. The Group extends an 
additional warranty period of 2 years in addition to the 3 years provided by the manufacturer 
based on expected extended warranty payable to the manufacturer.  

 
(c)  Restoration cost 
 
 A provision for restoration cost is recognised for expected costs to be incurred to restore the 

rented premise in accordance to the stipulation in the tenancy agreement. The Group provides 
for the cost to restore the premises to its original state and condition. The provision is based on 
the best estimate of the direct expenditure to be incurred upon the expiry of tenancy period. 
Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted 
from the cost of the asset. 

 
 
19. BORROWINGS 
  

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Short term borrowings
Bankers' acceptances and trust receipts -                       5,658            -                     -                     
Sukuk Wakalah Commercial Papers ("CP") 100,000            100,000        100,000         100,000         

100,000            105,658        100,000         100,000         
Long term borrowing
Sukuk Wakalah Medium Term 
   Notes ("MTN") 99,837              99,769          99,837           99,769           

199,837            205,427        199,837         199,769         

CompanyGroup

 
In the prior financial year, the interest rate per annum at the reporting date for bankers’ acceptances and 
trust receipts range from 2.75% to 6.0%. 
 
The CP comprise the third tranche of RM100 million Sukuk Wakalah, which was issued during the 
financial year, with maturity of 6 months from the date of issue and carries profit rate of 2.21% per 
annum. 
 
On 18 December 2020, the MTN of RM100 million Sukuk Wakalah was issued with maturity of 3 years 
and carries profit rate of 3.26% per annum. 
 
The MTN have been accounted for in the statements of financial position of the Group and of the 
Company as follows: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Nominal value 100,000         100,000         
Unamortised transaction cost (163)               (231)               
Carrying amount 99,837           99,769           
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Trade payables
Third parties 125,383            150,346        -                     -                     
Amount owing to an associated company 45,190              46,611          -                     -                     

170,573            196,957        -                     -                     

Other payables 
Sundry payables 60,908              27,114          73                  7                    
Refundable deposits from customers 4,881                2,038            -                     -                     
Amount owing to an associated company -                       47                 -                     -                     
Dividend payable 26,149              17,422          26,149           17,422           
Accruals 10,374              3,994            1,529             1,566             

102,312            50,615          27,751           18,995           
272,885            247,572        27,751           18,995           

Group Company

 
(a)    Trade payables 
 
  These amounts are non-interest bearing except for interest levied on late payments. Trade 

payables are normally settled on 30 - 90 (2021: 30 – 90) days. 
 

(b)  Refundable deposits from customers 
 

 The refundable deposits are received from customers upon booking confirmation and will be set-
off against the total invoiced amounts upon delivery of vehicles. 

 
 
21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 
 
 Group as a lessee 
 

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the 
year. 
 

2022 Land Building Total
At Net Carrying Amount RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At beginning of year 29,962          33,723           63,685           
Additions -                    21,948           21,948           
Acquisition of a subsidiary -                    9,372             9,372             
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 24) (1,660)           (12,978)          (14,638)          
Exchange difference (670)              -                     (670)               
At end of year 27,632          52,065           79,697           

As at 30 April 2022
Cost 33,922          97,596           131,518         
Accumulated depreciation (6,290)           (45,531)          (51,821)          
Net carrying amount 27,632          52,065           79,697           
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21. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

2021 Land Building Total
At Net Carrying Amount RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

At beginning of year 31,848          38,621           70,469           
Additions -                    4,666             4,666             
Depreciation charge for the year (Note 24) (1,701)           (9,564)            (11,265)          
Exchange difference (185)              -                     (185)               
At end of year 29,962          33,723           63,685           

As at 30 April 2021
Cost 33,354          66,534           99,888           
Accumulated depreciation (3,392)           (32,811)          (36,203)          
Net carrying amount 29,962          33,723           63,685           
 
The right-of-use assets are in respect of lease contracts for buildings such as showrooms, service 
centres and warehouses. 
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities recognised and the movements during the 
year. 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

At beginning of year 69,376           74,149           
Additions 21,948           4,666             
Acquisition of a subsidiary 9,487             -                     
Accretion of interest (Note 23) 3,968             3,891             
Lease payments (16,014)          (13,125)          
Exchange difference (764)               (205)               
At end of year 88,001           69,376           

Disclosed as:
- Current 11,712           9,714             
- Non-current 76,289           59,662           

88,001           69,376           

 
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss: 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Depreciation of right-of use assets (Note 24) 14,638           11,265           
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 23) 3,968             3,891             
Expenses relating to short-term lease (Note 24) 1,274             1,200             
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets (Note 24) 178                171                

Group
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22. REVENUE 
 
 Revenue consists of the following: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Revenue from contract with customers:
   Sale of motor vehicles 2,120,560    2,113,143    -                   -                   
   Sale of spare parts 156,649       123,968       -                   -                   
   Maintenance and fitting
      of motor vehicle
      accessories services 46,462         50,803         -                   -                   

2,323,671    2,287,914    -                   -                   

Other revenue:
   Dividend income from a subsidiary -                   -                   105,000       75,000         

2,323,671    2,287,914    105,000       75,000         

Timing of revenue recognition:
  - at a point in time 2,276,854    2,235,664    
  - over time 46,817         52,250         

2,323,671    2,287,914    

Group Company

 
 
23. FINANCE COSTS 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Interest expense on:
  - bankers acceptances and trusts receipts 618              6,020           -                   -                   
  - MTN and CP 5,911           2,147           5,911           2,147           
  - lease liabilities (Note 21) 3,968           3,891           -                   -                   
Interest expense paid to an associated 
   company -                   576              -                   -                   

Unwinding of discount on provision (Note 18) 177              182              -                   -                   
10,674         12,816         5,911           2,147           

Group Company
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24. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Profit before tax
is arrived at after charging:

Directors' remuneration (Note 25)
- emoluments (excluding 

benefits-in-kind) 10,383         8,456           68                84                
- fees 300              321              300              321              

Auditors' remuneration 
  - statutory audit fee

- Ernst & Young 367              220              54                45                
- Others 8                  8                  -                   -                   

  - underprovision for prior years 13                14                5                  -                   
  - fees for non audit services 117              53                66                11                

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 3) 5,786           4,907           2                  7                  

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 21) 14,638         11,265         -                   -                   
Loss on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment -                   21                -                   -                   
Inventories written down 1,896           2,769           -                   -                   
Demonstration car expenses 9,132           9,629           -                   -                   
Impairment loss on advances -                   5,965           -                   -                   
Expenses relating to short-term 

lease (Note 21) 1,274           1,200           -                   -                   
Expenses relating to leases of low-value 

assets (Note 21) 178              171              -                   -                   
Staff costs (Note a) 74,248         57,940         -                   -                   
Loss on remeasurement of equity interest 

in a subsidiary, previously accounted
for as an associated company (Note 5) 64                -                   -                   -                   

Fair value adjustment on derivatives (Note 11) 968              -                   -                   -                   
Provision for warranty (net of reversal) 18,401         21,773         -                   -                   
Provision for incentives (net of reversal) 10,771         12,677         -                   -                   
Loss on foreign exchange

  - realised 1,198           -                   -                   -                   

and crediting:
Gain on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment (104)             -                   -                   -                   
Gain on acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 5) (1,325)          -                   -                   -                   
Rental income from an associated company (264)             (264)             -                   -                   
Business development fees (16,931)        (15,631)        -                   -                   
Interest income from financial institutions (6,633)          (5,415)          (378)             (446)             
Interest income from a subsidiary -                   -                   (5,758)          (2,650)          
Reversal of allowance for expected credit 

loss in receivables (Note 10(a)) (602)             (1,583)          -                   -                   
Gain on foreign exchange

  - realised -                   (917)             -                   -                   
  - unrealised (1,284)          (3,567)          -                   -                   

Group Company
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24. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 
  

(a) Staff costs consist of the following: 
 

    Group
2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000

Wages, salaries, bonuses, COVID-19
          relief fund, allowances and other emoluments    60,381         45,329         
Social security costs and employees insurance 514              444              
Pension costs

  - defined contribution plans 7,500           6,343           
Share-based payments under ESS (Note b) 1,452           2,183           
Other staff related expenses 4,401           3,641           

74,248         57,940         

 
   Note: Staff costs exclude remuneration of executive directors. 
 

(b) Share-based payments under ESS consist of the following: 
 

    Group     Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Share-based payments for:
  - employees of the Group (Note a) 1,452           2,183           -                   -                   
  - directors of the Company 198              402              198              402              
  - other directors of the Group 217              440              -                   -                   

1,867           3,025           198              402              
 

25. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 
 

The aggregate directors' remuneration for all directors of the Group and of the Company categorised into 
appropriate components for the financial year are as follows: 
 

    Group     Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Directors of the Company
Executive 

Salaries and other emoluments 6,525           5,132           -                   -                   
Performance incentive 2,000           1,600           -                   -                   
Benefits-in-kind 49                49                -                   -                   

8,574           6,781           -                   -                   

Non-executive
Fees 300              321              300              321              
Other emoluments 68                84                68                84                

368              405              368              405              
8,942           7,186           368              405              

Other directors of the Group
Salaries and other emoluments 1,199           1,220           -                   -                   
Performance incentive 591              420              -                   -                   

1,790           1,640           -                   -                   
Total directors' remuneration (excluding

share-based payments) 10,732         8,826           368              405              
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26. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 
 

    Group     Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Income tax:
- Malaysian 65,074         52,083         153              242              
- Foreign tax 412              298              -                   -                   

65,486         52,381         153              242              
Under/(Over)provision in respect of prior years
- Malaysian income tax 690              (471)             51                -                   

66,176         51,910         204              242              
Deferred tax (Note 7)
- Relating to origination and
      reversal of temporary differences (7,163)          (11,438)        -                   -                   
- Under/(Over)provision in prior years 678              (503)             -                   -                   

(6,485)          (11,941)        -                   -                   
Total income tax expense 59,691         39,969         204              242              

Domestic income tax is calculated at the Malaysian statutory tax rate of 24% (2021: 24%) of the 
estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rate prevailing 
in the respective jurisdictions. 
 
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the statutory income tax rate to 
income tax expense at the effective tax rate of the Group and of the Company is as follows: 

 
 

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Profit before tax 217,654       168,949       103,919       74,643         

Applicable tax rate (%) 24                24                24                24                

Taxation at applicable tax rate 52,237         40,548         24,941         17,914         
Income not subject to tax -                   -                   (25,200)        (18,000)        
Expenses not deductible
   under tax legislation 3,839           5,191           412              328              
Effect of different tax rate in other country 136              129              -                   -                   
Effect of "Prosperity Tax" rate at 33% 6,443           -                   -                   -                   
Effect of share of result of 

associated companies (4,332)          (4,925)          -                   -                   
Under/(Over)provision of income tax
   in prior years 690              (471)             51                -                   
Under/(Over)provision of deferred tax

in prior years 678              (503)             -                   -                   
Income tax expense for the year 59,691         39,969         204              242              
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27. EARNINGS PER SHARE  
 

(a) Basic 
 
 Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity 

holders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares with voting rights in 
issue during the financial year. 

 
    Group

2022 2021

Profit attributable to equity holders (RM'000) 155,113       133,842       

Weighted average number of 
ordinary shares with voting rights in issue ('000) 1,161,769    1,161,792    

Basic earnings per share (sen) 13.35           11.52           

 
(b) Diluted 

 
For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the profit for the year attributable to 
ordinary equity holders of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
with voting rights in issue during the financial year, have been adjusted for the dilutive effects of 
the dilutive instruments of the Group.  
 

    Group
2022 2021

Profit attributable to equity holders (RM'000) 155,113       133,842       

Weighted average number of 
ordinary shares with voting rights in issue ('000) 1,161,769    1,161,792    

Assumed shares issued from the 
exercise of employees' share scheme ('000) 2,290           2,964           

Adjusted weighted average 
number of ordinary shares with voting rights ('000) 1,164,059    1,164,756    

Diluted earnings per share (sen) 13.33           11.49           
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28. DIVIDENDS 
 

2022 2022 2021 2021
Dividend Dividend

per share Dividend per share Dividend
Sen RM'000 Sen RM'000

Recognised during the year
Single-tier dividends:
In respect of prior year
-  Fourth interim dividend of 1.50 sen 

and special dividend of 1.75 sen
approved in respect of financial 3.25             37,746         -                   -                   
year ended 30 April 2021

In respect of current year
-  First interim dividend of 0.50 sen 

approved in respect of financial 
year ended 30 April 2022
(2021: First interim dividend of 
0.50 sen approved in respect of 
financial year ended 30 April 2021) 0.50             5,807           0.50             5,809           

-  Second interim dividend of 1.50 sen 
approved in respect of financial
year ended 30 April 2022
(2021: Second interim dividend of 
1.25 sen approved in respect of 
financial year ended 30 April 2021) 1.50             17,432         1.25             14,518         

-  Third interim dividend of 2.25 sen
approved in respect of financial
year ended 30 April 2022
(2021: Third interim dividend of 
1.50 sen approved in respect of
financial year ended 30 April 2021) 2.25             26,149         1.50             17,422         

7.50             87,134         3.25             37,749         

Company

 
On 13 June 2022, the Company declared and approved a fourth interim single-tier dividend of 2.00 sen 
per share and a special single-tier dividend of 2.50 sen per share in respect of the financial year ended 
30 April 2022 amounting to about RM52,299,000. The financial statements for the current financial year 
do not reflect these dividends. These dividends will be accounted for in the shareholders’ equity as an 
appropriation of retained earnings in the financial year ending 30 April 2023. 
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29. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION  
 

The Group operates predominantly in one business segment in Malaysia and outside Malaysia. The 
primary format, geographical segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting 
structure. 
 
Unallocated assets/liabilities include items relating to investing and financing activities and items that 
cannot be reasonably allocated to individual segments.  
 

2022 2021
Results RM'000 RM'000

Malaysia 199,852         163,218        
Philippines 5,170             (7,216)           

205,022         156,002        
Unallocated corporate expenses (1,378)            (171)              

203,644         155,831        
Interest income 6,633             5,415            
Finance costs (10,674)          (12,816)         
Share of results of associates 18,051           20,519          
Profit before tax 217,654         168,949        
Income tax expense (59,691)          (39,969)         
Profit for the year 157,963         128,980        

 
 

Capital
Revenue expenditure Assets Liabilities

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022

Malaysia 2,139,287   11,441            997,885         762,179        
Philippines 184,384      855                 199,426         97,315          

2,323,671   12,296            1,197,311      859,494        
Unallocated items -                 -                     362,714         12,299          
Total 2,323,671   12,296            1,560,025      871,793        

2021

Malaysia 2,117,974   3,080              886,887         687,087        
Philippines 169,940      514                 203,664         93,445          

2,287,914   3,594              1,090,551      780,532        
Unallocated items -                 -                     311,210         9,155            
Total 2,287,914   3,594              1,401,761      789,687        
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30. EMPLOYEES’ SHARE SCHEME 
 

The Company implemented an Employees’ Share Scheme (“ESS” or “Scheme”) which came into effect 
on 19 November 2018 for a period of 5 years. The ESS may be extended for a maximum period of five 
(5) years if so recommended by the ESS Committee and approved at the discretion of the board. The 
ESS was approved by the shareholders at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 3 October 2018. 
The ESS is administered by a committee (“ESS Committee”).  
 
The grant dates of the 1st ESS offer was from 21 November 2018 to 4 December 2018 and 2nd ESS 
offer was from 18 November 2021 to 30 November 2021. 
 
The main features of the Scheme for ESS are as follows: 
 
(a) The aggregate maximum number of ESS Shares and ESS Options that may be granted to any 

eligible director or employee of the Group shall be determined by the ESS Committee provided that:  
 

(i) the directors (including non-executive directors) and eligible employees do not 
participate in the deliberation and discussion of their own allocation and the allocation to 
any person connected with them; 

 
(ii) no allocation of more than seventy percent (70%) of the total of ESS Shares and ESS 

Options shall be made in aggregate to the directors and/or senior management of the 
Group; and 

 
(iii) no allocation of more than ten percent (10%) of the ESS Shares and ESS Options shall 

be made to any eligible directors or employee of the Group who, either single or 
collectively through persons connected with them, hold more than twenty percent (20%) 
of the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if 
any). 

 
(b) An eligible employee shall pay a sum of RM1.00 as consideration for acceptance of that offer. The 

ESS options shall be exercisable at a price which is the five-day weighted average market price of 
the shares in the Company on the date of offer, with a discount not exceeding ten per cent. 

 
(c) The ESS Committee may in its absolute discretion and subject to compliance with the provisions of 

the Act and the Company’s Constitution and the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad, decide that the ESS Shares to be satisfied by issuance of new ordinary 
shares of the Company, acquisition of existing issued ordinary shares of the Company from the 
market, payment of cash or a combination of the above. 

 
(d) The new ordinary shares issued upon the ESS will be subject to the provisions of the Articles of 

Association of our Company and will, upon allotment and issuance, rank equally in all respects with 
the existing new ordinary shares, save and except that the new ordinary shares issued will not be 
entitled for any dividends, rights, allotments and/or other distributions that may be declared, made or 
paid to shareholders of our Company, the entitlement date of which is prior to the date of allotment 
and issuance of the new ordinary shares to the participants. 

 
(e) If an ESS granted is satisfied via a transfer of existing ordinary shares, the participants will not be 

entitled to any entitlement attached to such ordinary shares in respect of which the entitlement date 
is prior to the effective date of transfer of such ordinary shares to the participants.  
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30. EMPLOYEES’ SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED) 
 

The ESS consists of ESS options and shares as below:  
. 

(i) ESS Options 
 

Movement of share options during the financial year 
 

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise price (“WAEP”) of, and 
movements in, share options during the financial year: 

1st Offer 2nd Offer Group WAEP
Units Units Units RM

Outstanding at beginning of year 8,001,400    -                   8,001,400    1.85      
- Granted -                   197,400       197,400       1.43      
- Forfeited (168,000)      (9,800)          (177,800)      1.83      
- Exercised -                   (32,200)        (32,200)        1.43      
Outstanding at end of year 7,833,400    155,400       7,988,800    1.84      

 
- The exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was RM1.85 per share and 

RM1.43 per share for first offer and second offer, respectively. The remaining contractual life for 
these options is 1.55 years.  

 
(ii) ESS Shares 
 

Movement of shares during the financial year 
 

The following table illustrates the number and movements in ESS shares during the financial year: 
 

1st Offer 2nd Offer Group
Units Units Units

Outstanding at beginning of year 2,964,000    -                   2,964,000    
- Granted -                   84,600         84,600         
- Forfeited (51,600)        (4,200)          (55,800)        
- Vested (732,600)      -                   (732,600)      
Outstanding at end of year 2,179,800    80,400         2,260,200    

 
Fair value of ESS granted  
 
The following table lists the fair values of the options and shares granted, which were estimated at 
the grant dates.  
 
First Offer 
 

ESS ESS
Options Shares

Fair values of options and shares to be vested RM RM

On the grant date 0.53             -                   
1 year from the grant date 0.53             2.11             
2 years from the grant date 0.52             2.11             
3 years from the grant date 0.50             2.11             
4 years from the grant date 0.47             2.11             
5 years from the grant date -                   2.11             

Group
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30. EMPLOYEES’ SHARE SCHEME (CONTINUED) 
 

Fair value of ESS granted (continued) 
 
Second Offer 
 

ESS ESS
Options Shares

Fair values of options and shares to be vested RM RM

On the grant date 0.27             -                   
1 year from the grant date 0.27             1.49             
2 years from the grant date -                   1.49             

Group

 
The fair values of the options and shares granted is estimated at the grant date using a binomial option 
pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.  
 
The following table lists the inputs to the option pricing model: 

1st Offer ESS 2nd Offer ESS
Grant dates Grant dates

21.11.2018 to 4.12.2018 18.11.2021 to 30.11.2021
Dividend yield (%) 6.36 - 6.45 4.7
Expected volatility (%) 32.75 33.5
Risk-free interest rate (% p.a.) 3.84 - 3.89 2.67
Expected life of options (Years) 5 2
Underlying share price (RM) 2.10 - 2.13 1.49

 
The expected life of the options and shares is based on the contractual life of the shares and options. 
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility, over a period similar to the life 
of the options, is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 

 
 
31. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

  
In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in the notes to financial statements, the Group and the 
Company had the following significant transactions with related parties during the financial year: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Transactions with MMSB* :
Purchase of motor vehicles 918,279       772,333       -                   -                   
Management fee income received (2,264)          (2,264)          -                   -                   
Rental income received (264)             (264)             -                   -                   

Transaction with BAASB* :
Management fee income received (94)               (377)             -                   -                   

Transaction with BMSB^ :
Interest income received -                   -                   (5,758)          (2,650)          

Group Company

Note: 
 * Associated companies of the Group. 
 ^ Subsidiary of the Company. 
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32. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 
 
 The compensation of the key management personnel, who are the directors and other senior 

management personnel of the Group and of the Company, are as follows: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Short-term benefits 14,536         11,986         368              405              
Post-employment benefits 2,128           1,815           -                   -                   

16,664         13,801         368              405              

CompanyGroup

33. COMMITMENTS 
 

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Capital expenditure
Property, plant and equipment
  - approved and contracted for -                   -                   3,553           551              

Group

 
34. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 

The Company has provided corporate guarantees to banks for credit facilities granted to subsidiary 
companies. Included in such facilities granted to subsidiary companies is a trade financing facility, which 
allows third party utilisation by a supplier. As at the reporting date, the amount utilised by the supplier 
amounted to RM116,462,000 (2021: RM125,463,000). The Company has assessed the financial 
guarantee contracts and concluded that the financial impact of the guarantees is not material as the 
likelihood of default is remote. All financial guarantees of the Company are either due within one year or 
repayable on demand. 
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35. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT 
 

The Group and the Company measure the fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects 
the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements: 

  
Level 1 Quoted (unadjusted) market price in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

 
Level 2 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
 

Level 3 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable 

 
Financial instruments that are measured at fair value 

 
The table below analyses the financial instruments measured at fair value at the reporting date, according 
to the level in the fair value hierarchy: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Group RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022
Financial liabilities
Derivative liabilities -                (968)          -                (968)          

2021
Financial assets
Other investment - Unquoted shares -                -                139           139           

 
 
Forward currency contracts are valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs. For 
the unquoted investment, fair value represents the enterprise value of the investment derived from the 
cash flows projection based on the business plan of the investee company. Fair value is determined to 
approximate the acquisition price of the investment. 
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
  
 (a)  Classification of financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or 
at amortised cost. The principal accounting policies in Note 2.2 describe how the classes of 
financial instruments are measured, and how income and expense, including fair value gains and 
losses, are recognised. The following table analyses the financial assets and financial liabilities in 
the statements of financial position by the class of financial instruments to which they are 
assigned, and therefore by the measurement basis: 
 
Group At amortised 

cost FVTOCI Total
Note RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

2022
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
  (excluding prepayment) 10 137,747        -                     137,747         
Deposits with financial institutions 12 521,964        -                     521,964         
Cash and bank balances 13 172,444        -                     172,444         

832,155        -                     832,155         

At amortised 
cost FVTOCI Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2021
Financial assets
Other investment 4 -                    139                139                
Trade and other receivables
  (excluding prepayment) 10 134,376        -                     134,376         
Deposits with financial institutions 12 477,685        -                     477,685         
Cash and bank balances 13 85,671          -                     85,671           

697,732        139                697,871         

At amortised
cost

RM'000
2022
Financial liabilities
Derivative liability 11 968                
Borrowings 19 199,837         
Trade and other payables
  (excluding refundable deposit
   and dividend payable) 20 241,855         
Lease liabilities 21 88,001           

530,661         

At amortised
cost

RM'000
2021
Financial liabilities
Borrowings 19 205,427         
Trade and other payables
  (excluding refundable deposit
   and dividend payable) 20 228,112         
Lease liabilities 21 69,376           

502,915         
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
  

(a) Classification of financial instruments (continued) 
   

Company 2022 2021
Note RM'000 RM'000

Financial assets - At amortised cost
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments
  and dividend receivable) 10 190,700         202,441         
Deposits with financial institutions 12 8,203             29,336           
Cash and bank balances 13 33,993           122                

232,896         231,899         

2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000

Financial liabilities - At amortised cost
Borrowings 19 199,837         199,769         
Trade and other payables (excluding dividend payable) 20 1,602             1,573             

201,439         201,342         

        
(b) Fair value 

 
(i) Financial instruments that are measured at fair value 
 

Information of financial instruments of the Group that are measured at fair value is 
disclosed in Note 35. 

 
(ii) Financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying amounts are 

reasonable approximation of fair values 
       

The following are classes of financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and 
whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair values:  

          
   Note  

 Trade and other receivables   10 
 Deposits with financial institutions    12 
 Borrowings (Current)   19 
 Trade and other payables      20 
 Lease liabilities   21 
    

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable 
approximation of fair values due to either insignificant impact of discounting from their 
short term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market 
interest rates on or near the reporting date. 

 
(iii) Financial instruments that are not measured at fair value and whose carrying amounts 

are not reasonable approximation of fair value. 
 

2022 2022 2021 2021
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
amount value amount value
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial liability
Long term borrowing (Note 19) 99,837              99,187          99,769           99,636           

Group and Company
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES    
            

The financial risk management policies of the Group seek to ensure that adequate financial resources 
are available for the development of the Group's businesses whilst managing its market risk (including 
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), liquidity risk and credit risk. The Group operates within clearly 
defined guidelines and the Group's policy is not to engage in speculative transactions.  
  
(a) Market risk 

         
(i) Interest rate risk         

           
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the 
Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 
The interest-bearing assets are made up of deposits with licensed financial institutions. 
 
The Group manages the interest rate risk of its deposits with licensed financial institutions by 
placing them at the most competitive interest rate obtainable, which yield better returns than 
cash at bank and by maintaining deposits and actively reviewing its portfolio of deposits. 
 
The Group manages its interest risk exposure by actively reviewing its debt portfolio, taking 
into account the investment holding period and nature of its assets.  This strategy allows it to 
capitalise on cheaper funding in a low interest rate environment and achieve a certain level 
of protection against rate hikes.   

 
The information on maturity dates and effective interest rates of financial assets and 
liabilities are disclosed in their respective notes. 
 
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the interest-bearing financial instruments 
was: 
 

2022 2021 2022 2021
RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000

Financial rate instruments

Financial assets - fixed rate 521,964            477,685        198,203         229,336         
Financial liabilities - floating rate -                       5,658            -                     -                     
Financial liabilities - fixed rate 199,837            199,769        199,837         199,769         

Group Company

 
Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk  
 
In previous financial year 2021, if interest rates had been 25 basis points higher or lower, 
with all other variables held constant, the Group's profit net of tax would have been 
RM11,000 lower or higher mainly as a result of higher or lower interest expense on floating 
rate short term borrowings. 
 

(ii)  Currency risk         
          

  Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

  
 The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to 

the Group’s operating activities (where revenue or expense is denominated in a different 
currency from the Group’s functional currency) and the Group’s net investment in a foreign 
subsidiary.  

 
  

  

/    175    /

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Notes to the Financial Statements
30 April 2022

RREEGGIISSTTRRAATTIIOONN  NNOO::  220011000011001166885544  ((990000555577--MM))  
 

76 
 

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(a)   Market risk (continued) 

         
(ii)  Currency risk (continued)         
           
  The Group is exposed to transactional currency risk primarily through purchases that are 

denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the Group. The currencies 
giving rise to risk are primarily Japanese Yen (“JPY”), United States Dollar (“USD”) and Euro 
(“EUR”). 

 
The Group uses forward currency contracts to eliminate currency exposures resulting from 
fluctuations in foreign currency rates for which payment is anticipated more than one month 
after the Group has entered into a firm commitment for purchase. It is the Group’s policy not 
to enter into forward contracts until a firm commitment is in place. It is the Group’s policy to 
negotiate the terms of the derivatives to match the terms of the payments to minimise the 
exposure to foreign currency risk. 
 
Sensitivity analysis for currency risk 

 
  The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit net of tax to a 

reasonably possible change in JPY, USD and EUR exchange rates against the functional 
currencies of the Group, with all other variables held constant: 

 
2022 2021

RM'000 RM'000
Group
Increase/(Decrease) to profit net of tax

JPY/MYR - Strengthened by 5% (2021: 5%) 833                2,129             
- Weakened by 5% (2021: 5%) (833)               (2,129)            

USD/MYR - Strengthened by 5% (2021: 5%) 296                121                
- Weakened by 5% (2021: 5%) (296)               (121)               

EUR/MYR - Strengthened by 5% 136                -                     
- Weakened by 5% (136)               -                     

 
(b) Credit risk 
      

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a 
counterparty default on its obligations. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade 
receivables. 

        
Receivables 
 
The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due 
to increased credit risk exposure. 
 
New vehicles sales are still largely derived from authorised car dealers and as such, the Group 
has a normal credit policy in place and the exposure is monitored on an going basis. The Group 
also extends credit risk to spare parts dealers, selective corporate purchasers and finance 
companies. Bank guarantees are required on a selective basis to secure the line of credit from 
the Group. 
 
Exposure to credit risk, credit quality and collateral 
 
As at 30 April 2022, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables is represented 
by the carrying amounts in the statements of financial position. 
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 (b) Credit risk (continued) 
      

Management has taken reasonable steps to ensure that receivables that are neither past due nor 
impaired are measured at their realisable values. A significant portion of these receivables are 
regular customers that have been transacting with the Group. The Group uses ageing analysis to 
monitor the credit quality of the receivables. Any receivables having significant balances past due 
more than 90 days, which are deemed to have higher credit risk, are monitored individually. 
 
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk that may arise from exposure to a single 
debtor or to groups of trade receivables. An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting 
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
 
The Group has applied the simplified approach to calculate expected credit losses which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance on all trade receivables. The Group's provision matrix is based 
on its historical credit loss experience with trade receivables of similar credit risk characteristics. 

      
(c) Liquidity risk          

         
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting 
financial obligations due to shortage of funds.  

          
The Group actively manages its operating cash flows and the availability of fund so as to ensure 
that all funding needs are met. As part of its overall prudent liquidity management, the Group 
maintains sufficient levels of cash to meet its working capital requirements. 
 
All financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company are either due within one year or 
repayable on demand, except for lease liabilities and long-term borrowing as disclosed below. 
 
Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
 
Group On demand One

or within to five Over five
one year years years Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2022
Long-term borrowing 3,251                103,251        -                     106,502         
Lease liabilities 15,262              50,030          48,032           113,324         

18,513              153,281        48,032           219,826         

2021
Long-term borrowing 3,278                106,502        -                     109,780         
Lease liabilities 12,888              37,542          43,812           94,242           

16,166              144,044        43,812           204,022         

 
Company On demand One

or within to five Over five
one year years years Total

RM'000 RM'000 RM'000 RM'000
2022
Long-term borrowing 3,251                103,251        -                     106,502         

2021
Long-term borrowing 3,278                106,502        -                     109,780         
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38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  
 
The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit 
rating and healthy ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders value.  
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic 
condition. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.  

 
 The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity. Net debt 
represents borrowings less deposits with financial institutions and cash and bank balances and exclude 
lease liabilities arising from MFRS 16. Total equity represents net equity attributable to the owners of the 
parent plus non-controlling interests.  

  

2022 2021
Note RM'000 RM'000

Deposits with financial institutions 12 521,964         477,685        
Cash and bank balances 13 172,444         85,671          
Borrowings 19 (199,837)        (205,427)       
Net cash 494,571         357,929        

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 633,700         565,417        
Non-controlling interests 54,532           46,657          
Total equity 688,232         612,074        

Group

 
The gearing ratio is not governed by the MFRS and its definition and calculation may vary from one 
group/company to another. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF     
BERMAZ AUTO BERHAD         
(Incorporated in Malaysia)         
            
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Bermaz Auto Berhad, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 30 April 2022 of the Group and of the Company, and statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the 
Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, as set out on pages 108 to 178.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group and of the Company as at 30 April 2022, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Independence and other ethical responsibilities 
 
We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, 
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code. 
 
Key audit matters  
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current year. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to 
communicate in our report on the financial statements of the Company. The key audit matter for the audit of the 
financial statements of the Group is described below. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
this matter. For the matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that 
context. 
 
We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the 
matters below, provide the basis of our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Provision for warranty 
 
(Refer to Note 18 to the financial statements – Provisions) 
 
The Group provides warranties on vehicles sold to either repair or replace parts for a specified period of time. 
The Group recognises a provision for warranty when it has a present obligation as a result of past events and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to either repair or replace any parts of the 
vehicles covered under warranty. As at 30 April 2022, the provision for warranty amounted to RM70.4 million, 
representing 8.1% of the total liabilities of the Group.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF     
BERMAZ AUTO BERHAD (CONT’D) 
 
Key audit matter (cont’d) 
 
Provision for warranty (cont’d) 
 
The provision for warranty represents the Group’s best estimate of contractual obligations arising from the 
warranties provided on the vehicles sold for a specified period of time to the end customers. This estimate 
includes making assumptions on the timing of warranty claims and the cost to either repair or replace any parts of 
the vehicles covered by the warranty taking into consideration the historical claims made by customers for 
various models of the vehicles and applying a discount rate to present value the provision for warranty. 
 
The assumptions used in determining the provision for warranty involves significant management judgements 
and estimates. Accordingly, we consider this to be an area of audit focus. 
 
Our procedures to address this area of focus include, amongst others, the following:   
 
(a) Obtaining an understanding of the relevant internal controls of the Group over the provision for warranty 
process;  
(b) Discussing the basis of provision and assumptions with the management to obtain an understanding of the 
related data (such as claims histories) used as inputs to the provision computation; 
(c) Testing the utilisation of the provision for warranty by comparing actual claims recorded to the approved claim 
forms on a sample basis;  
(d) Assessing the provision for warranty made by management by comparing the estimates made with the 
average historical claim rates per vehicle; and 
(e) Assessing the discount rates in calculating the present value of the provision for warranty and whether the 
rates used, reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
 
We have also evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure as presented in the Note 18 to the financial statements. 
 
Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Directors’ Report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the Company and our 
auditors’ report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, and the annual report, which 
is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to the directors of the Company and take appropriate action. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF     
BERMAZ AUTO BERHAD (CONT’D) 
 
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the 
Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia. The 
directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the Company that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditors’ responsibilities of audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of   
the Company, as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and 
International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards 
on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We 
also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group's and the Company's internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by directors. 
 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date 
of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF     
BERMAZ AUTO BERHAD (CONT’D) 

 
Auditors’ responsibilities of audit of the financial statements (cont’d) 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the 

Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Company 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion. 
 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
 
Other matters 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the 
Companies Act 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose.  We do not assume responsibility to any other person 
for the content of this report.  
 
 
 
         
ERNST & YOUNG PLT  CHONG TSE HENG 
202006000003 (LLP0022760-LCA) & AF 0039  No. 03179/05/2023 J 
Chartered Accountants   Chartered Accountant 
   
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia          
Date: 3 August 2022  
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List of Property
 

Location Tenure Size Description

Estimated
age of

building
(Years)

Date of 
acquisition

Net
book value

RM'000

Lot No. 765
Jalan Padang Jawa
Section 16
40200 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan

Freehold 4.49 
acres

Single storey detached 
factory/warehouse with
an annexed 2-storey
office building & ancillary
buildings

14 30/06/2008  7,211 
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Other Information

MATERIAL CONTRACTS INVOLVING DIRECTORS AND MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into any contract which is or may be material (not being 
contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) involving Directors’ and Major Shareholders’ interests since the 
end of the previous financial year.

NON-AUDIT FEES

The amount of non-audit fees incurred for services rendered to the Group for the financial year ended 30 April 2022 
amounted to RM117,275.

Employees’ Share Scheme (“ESS”)

During the financial year ended (“FYE”) 30 April 2022, the Company has only one (1) ESS in existence.

The ESS was approved by the Company’s shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on 3 October 2018 and 
is for a period of 5 years commencing on 19 November 2018 and expiring on 18 November 2023. As of 30 April 2022, the 
total numbers of ESS Options and ESS Shares offered and accepted are 9,626,400 units and 4,125,600 units respectively.

Details of the total ESS Options and ESS Shares granted, exercised, forfeited and outstanding are set out below:

During the FYE 30 April 2022 Since commencement of ESS
ESS 

Options 
ESS 

Shares 
Total Options 

& Shares
ESS 

Options
ESS 

Shares
Total Options 

& Shares
Total number of options/

shares granted 2,927,400 808,200 3,735,600 6,699,000 1,616,400 8,315,400
Total number of options 

exercised/shares 
awarded 32,200 732,600 764,800 700,300 1,500,000 2,200,300

Total number of options/
shares forfeited 357,700 75,600 433,300 646,800 116,400 763,200

Total number of options/
shares outstanding 5,351,900 0 5,351,900

During the FYE 30 April 2022 Since commencement of ESS
Granted to Directors & 

Chief Executive
ESS 

Options 
ESS 

Shares 
Total Options 

& Shares
ESS 

Options
ESS 

Shares
Total Options 

& Shares
Aggregate options/shares 

granted 562,800 160,800 723,600 1,313,200 321,600 1,634,800
Aggregate options 

exercised/shares 
awarded 0 160,800 160,800 197,400 321,600 519,000

Aggregate options/shares 
outstanding 1,115,800 0 1,115,800

During the FYE 30 April 2022 Since commencement of ESS
Granted to Directors & 

Senior Management
ESS 

Options 
ESS 

Shares 
Total Options 

& Shares
ESS 

Options
ESS 

Shares
Total Options 

& Shares
Aggregate maximum 

allocation in percentage 47.8% 48.0% 47.8% 47.9% 48.0% 47.9%
Actual percentage granted 15.4% 9.9% 13.7% 35.6% 19.9% 30.8%
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Statement of Directors’ Shareholdings 
(Based on Register of Directors’ Shareholdings)

The Company Number of Ordinary Shares
 Direct

Interest %
Deemed
Interest %

Dato’ Sri Yeoh Choon San 3,530,600 0.30 168,473,300 14.50
Dato’ Lee Kok Chuan 3,525,625 0.30 168,473,300 14.50

Number of Ordinary Shares under Employees’ Share Scheme (“ESS”)
Direct

Interest %
Deemed
Interest %

ESS Options
Dato’ Sri Yeoh Choon San 441,000 0.04 - -
Dato’ Lee Kok Chuan 324,800 0.03 - -
ESS Shares
Dato’ Sri Yeoh Choon San 126,000 0.01 - -
Dato’ Lee Kok Chuan 104,400 0.01 - -

Save as disclosed, none of the other Directors of the Company has any interest in the shares of the Company and or related 
corporations.

Substantial Shareholders
(Based on Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Number of Ordinary Shares

Name
Direct 

Interest %
Deemed 
Interest %

Dynamic Milestone Sdn Bhd 168,473,300 14.50 - -
Dato’ Sri Yeoh Choon San 3,530,600 0.30 168,473,300 (a) 14.50
Dato’ Lee Kok Chuan 3,525,625 0.30 168,473,300 (a) 14.50
Dato’ Amer Hamzah Bin Ahmad 4,444,000 0.38 168,473,300 (a) 14.50
Employees Provident Fund Board 212,168,875 18.26 - -
Abrdn plc (formerly known as Standard Life 

Aberdeen PLC) - - 71,330,200 6.14
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC - - 71,330,200 6.14
Abrdn Malaysia Sdn Bhd (formerly known as 

Aberdeen Standard Investments (Malaysia) 
Sdn Bhd) - - 69,765,700 6.00

Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) 28,880,400 2.49 34,888,060 3.00
Prudential Plc - - 62,613,740 5.39

Note : (a) Deemed interested by virtue of his interest in Dynamic Milestone Sdn Bhd

Analysis of Shareholdings  
As at 29 July 2022
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distribution of shareholdings

Size of Shareholdings
  No. of 

Shareholders %

No. of 
Ordinary 

Shares %
Less than 100 305 2.80          7,918 0.00
100-1,000 4,528 41.61   1,885,233 0.16
1,001-10,000 4,385 40.30 18,108,326 1.56
10,001-100,000 1,255 11.53 39,390,153 3.39
100,001-58,198,213 407 3.74 885,973,263 76.23
58,198,214 and above* 2 0.02 216,832,795 18.66
Total 10,882   100.00   1,162,197,688     100.00

	
Note :	 There is only one class of shares in the paid-up capital of the Company. Each share entitles the holder to one vote.
           
		  * Denotes number of issued shares with voting rights in issue which shareholdings are 5% and above.

LIST OF THIRTY (30) LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

Name of Shareholders 
No. of

Shares %

1 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD 118,982,795 10.22

2 DYNAMIC MILESTONE SDN BHD 97,850,000 8.41

3 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA 48,385,300 4.16

4 PERMODALAN NASIONAL BERHAD 47,815,200 4.11

5 LEMBAGA TABUNG HAJI 47,639,300 4.09

6 CIMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB FOR DYNAMIC MILESTONE SDN BHD (PB) 40,302,200 3.46

7 AMSEC NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PLEDGED SECURITIES ACCOUNT - AMBANK (M) BERHAD FOR DYNAMIC MILESTONE 
SDN.BHD. (SMART) 30,321,100 2.60

8 KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) 28,880,400 2.48

9 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (ABERDEEN) 25,713,600 2.21

10 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA 3 22,711,100 1.95

11 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) (ABERDEEN) 19,819,700 1.70

12 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (AMUNDI) 17,786,400 1.53

13 CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PAMB FOR PRULINK EQUITY FUND 15,718,520 1.35

Analysis of Shareholdings  
As at 29 July 2022
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Name of Shareholders 
No. of

Shares %

14 HONG LEONG ASSURANCE BERHAD
AS BENEFICIAL OWNER (LIFE PAR) 13,862,100 1.19

15 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM BUMIPUTERA 2 12,608,000 1.08

16 HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
JPMCB NA FOR VANGUARD EMERGING MARKETS STOCK INDEX FUND 11,061,300 0.95

17 CARTABAN NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
EXEMPT AN FOR STATE STREET BANK & TRUST COMPANY (WEST CLT OD67) 10,136,900 0.87

18 CIMB GROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
CIMB COMMERCE TRUSTEE BERHAD FOR KENANGA SHARIAH GROWTH     
OPPORTUNITIES FUND (50156 TR01) 10,118,000 0.87

19 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (ABERISLAMIC) 9,840,500 0.85

20 CARTABAN NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
SSBT FUND 2S6A FOR DUPONT PENSION TRUST 9,567,500 0.82

21 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (CIMB PRIN) 9,221,780 0.79

22 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
URUSHARTA JAMAAH SDN. BHD. (ABERDEEN 2) 8,835,400 0.76

23 HSBC NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
JPMCB NA FOR VANGUARD TOTAL INTERNATIONAL STOCK INDEX FUND 8,548,401 0.73

24 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
KUMPULAN WANG PERSARAAN (DIPERBADANKAN) (KENANGA) 8,171,600 0.70

25 AMANAHRAYA TRUSTEES BERHAD
AMANAH SAHAM MALAYSIA 2 - WAWASAN 8,000,000 0.69

26 CARTABAN NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
PBTB FOR TAKAFULINK DANA EKUITI 7,963,900 0.68

27 MAYBANK NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
MTRUSTEE BERHAD FOR PRINCIPAL DALI EQUITY GROWTH FUND (UT-CIMB-DALI) 
(419455) 7,511,300 0.65

28 DB (MALAYSIA) NOMINEE (TEMPATAN) SENDIRIAN BERHAD
DEUTSCHE TRUSTEES MALAYSIA BERHAD FOR EASTSPRING INVESTMENTSSMALL-
CAP FUND 7,494,740 0.64

29 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (TEMPATAN) SDN BHD
EMPLOYEES PROVIDENT FUND BOARD (F TEMPLETON) 7,153,100 0.61

30 CITIGROUP NOMINEES (ASING) SDN BHD
UBS AG 6,841,096 0.59

Analysis of Shareholdings  
As at 29 July 2022
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Twelfth Annual General Meeting (“Twelfth AGM”) of Bermaz Auto Berhad will be 
conducted on a virtual basis via Remote Participation and Electronic Voting (“RPEV”) facilities from the broadcast venue 
at 12th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, 
Malaysia for the purpose of considering and if thought fit, passing with or without modifications the resolutions set out in 
this notice.

Meeting Date	 :	 Thursday, 6 October 2022

Time	 :	 10.00 a.m.

Meeting Platform	 :	 https://meeting.boardroomlimited.my 
		  (Domain Registration No. with MYNIC - D6A357657)

Submission of Questions	 :	 Prior to the Twelfth AGM

		  Submit questions in relation to the agenda items by logging in to the Boardroom Smart Investor 
		  Portal at https://investor.boardroomlimited.com latest by Tuesday, 4 October 2022 at 10.00 a.m.  

		  During the Twelfth AGM  

		  Shareholders may type their questions in the chat box at any time during the live streaming of the 
		  Twelfth AGM at https://meeting.boardroomlimited.my

AGENDA

As Ordinary Business

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 April 2022 
together with the Reports of the Directors’ and Auditors’ thereon.

2.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees amounting to RM299,672.00 to the Non-
Executive Directors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 April 2022.

3.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for an amount of up to RM400,000.00 to the 
Non-Executive Directors of the Company on a monthly basis commencing from  1 May 
2022 until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2023.

4.	 To approve the payment of Directors’ Remuneration (excluding Directors’ fees) to the 
Non-Executive Directors of the Company for an amount of up to RM114,300.00 for the 
period from 7 October 2022 until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to 
be held in 2023.

5.	 To re-elect the following Directors who retire pursuant to Clause 117 of the Company’s 
Constitution:-

(i)	 Dato’ Lee Kok Chuan 
(ii)	 Datuk Syed Hisham Bin Syed Wazir
(iii)	 Puan Adibah Khairiah Binti Ismail @ Daud 

6.	 To re-elect Dato’ Wan Kamaruzaman Bin Wan Ahmad who retires pursuant to Clause 
107 of the Company’s Constitution.

		
7.	 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise 

the Directors to fix their remuneration.		

(Please refer to Note 1 of the 
Explanatory Notes)

Ordinary Resolution 1

Ordinary Resolution 2

Ordinary Resolution 3

Ordinary Resolution 4
Ordinary Resolution 5
Ordinary Resolution 6

Ordinary Resolution 7

Ordinary Resolution 8
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:- 

8.	 AUTHORITY TO ISSUE AND ALLOT SHARES OR GRANT RIGHTS PURSUANT TO 
SECTIONS 75 AND 76 OF THE COMPANIES ACT 2016 

		
	 “THAT, subject always to the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”), the Main Market Listing 

Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the Constitution of the Company 
and the approvals of the relevant governmental/regulatory authorities, the Directors be 
and are hereby empowered, pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act, to issue and 
allot shares in the Company from time to time at such price and upon such terms and 
conditions and for such purposes as the Directors may in their absolute discretion 
deem fit provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to this 
resolution does not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company 
for the time being and THAT the Directors be and are also empowered to obtain the 
approval from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad for the listing and quotation for the 
additional shares so issued and THAT such authority shall continue to be in force until 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.”		

9.	 PROPOSED RENEWAL OF AUTHORITY FOR THE COMPANY TO PURCHASE ITS OWN 
SHARES

	 “THAT, subject always to the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”), rules, regulations and 
orders made pursuant to the Act, provisions of the Company’s Constitution, the Main 
Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Exchange”) and 
the requirements of any other relevant authority, the Directors of the Company be and 
are hereby authorised to purchase such number of ordinary shares in the Company 
(“BAuto Shares”) through the Exchange and to take all such steps as are necessary 
(including the opening and/or maintaining of a central depositories account under the 
Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act, 1991, where applicable) and enter into 
any agreements, arrangements and guarantees with any party or parties to implement, 
finalise and give full effect to the aforesaid purchase with full powers to assent to 
any conditions, modifications, revaluations, variations and/or amendments (if any) as 
may be imposed by the relevant authorities from time to time and to do all such acts 
and things in the best interests of the Company, subject further to the following:- 	
	
1.	 the maximum number of ordinary shares which may be purchased and held by 

the Company shall be equivalent to ten per centum (10%) of the total number of 
issued shares of the Company; 

2.	 the maximum funds to be allocated by the Company for the purpose of purchasing 
the ordinary shares shall not exceed the total retained profits of the Company;

3.	 the authority shall commence immediately upon passing of this ordinary resolution 
until:- 

(a)	 the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Company 
following the AGM at which such ordinary resolution was passed, at which 
time it will lapse, unless by ordinary resolution passed at that general meeting, 
the authority is renewed, either unconditionally or subject to conditions; or 

Ordinary Resolution 9
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(b)	 the expiration of the period within which the next AGM after that date it is 
required by law to be held; or 

(c)	 revoked or varied by ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the 
Company in a general meeting; 

whichever occurs first; 

AND THAT upon completion of the purchase(s) of the BAuto Shares or any part thereof by 
the Company, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to deal with any 
BAuto Shares so purchased by the Company in the following manner:- 

(a)	 cancel all the BAuto Shares so purchased; or
 
(b)	 retain all the BAuto Shares as treasury shares (of which may be dealt with in accordance 

with Section 127(7) of the Act); or 

(c)	 retain part thereof as treasury shares and subsequently cancelling the balance; or 

(d)	 in any other manner as prescribed by the Act, rules, regulations and orders made 
pursuant to the Act and the requirements of the Exchange and any other relevant 
authority for the time being in force.”

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

TAI YIT CHAN (SSM Practicing Certificate No. 202008001023) (MAICSA 7009143)
TAI YUEN LING (SSM Practicing Certificate No. 202008001075) (LS 0008513) 
TEH PEI FEN (SSM Practicing Certificate No. 202208000409) (MAICSA 7078581)
Company Secretaries

Selangor Darul Ehsan
30 August 2022

Ordinary Resolution 10
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EXPLANATORY NOTES:-

1.	 Audited Financial Statements 

	 The Audited Financial Statements are meant for discussion only as it does not require shareholders’ approval pursuant 
to the provision of Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”). Hence, this item on the Agenda is not put 
forward for voting. 

2.	 Directors’ Fees 

	 Ordinary Resolution 1
	 The quantum of the Directors’ fees for the Non-Executive Directors is the same as previous financial year ended 30 

April 2021 save for the Non-Independent Non-Executive Director, Dato' Wan Kamaruzaman Bin Wan Ahmad, whose 
Director’s fee was pro-rated from the date of his appointment up to 30 April 2022. The Director’s fee for Dato’ Abdul 
Manap Bin Abd Wahab, who retired as a Director at the conclusion of the Eleventh AGM of the Company held on 7 
October 2021, was also pro-rated from 1 May 2021 until the date of his retirement.

	 Ordinary Resolution 2
	 In June 2022, the Remuneration Committee (“RC”) had conducted a review of the existing fees payable to Non-

Executive Directors and had recommended that the existing fees be revised in view of the escalating cost of living due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic and to be comparable to other listed companies in the automotive industry.

	 The Board concurred with the RC’s recommendation that the proposed increase in Directors’ fees to the Non-Executive 
Directors is just and equitable and in recognition of their increasing responsibilities and commitment required to meet 
the heightened regulatory and compliance requirements by the regulatory bodies.

	 As such, the Board has proposed that the existing Directors’ fees payable to each Non-Executive Director of the 
Company be increased from RM60,000.00 to RM80,000.00 per annum and to be paid on a monthly basis commencing 
from 1 May 2022 for shareholders’ approval at the Twelfth AGM.

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 2, if passed, is to facilitate the payment of Directors’ fees to the Non-Executive 
Directors on a monthly basis. The Board has opined that it is just and equitable for the payment to be made on 
such basis as the Non-Executive Directors have been diligently discharging their responsibilities and rendering their 
services to the Company.

3.	 Directors’ Remuneration 

	 Section 230(1) of the Act provides that the “fees” and “any benefits” payable to the directors of a listed company and its 
subsidiaries shall be approved at a general meeting. As such, Ordinary Resolution 3 is to seek shareholders’ approval 
at the Twelfth AGM for the payment of Directors’ remuneration (excluding Directors’ fees) payable to the Non-Executive 
Directors of the Company for the period from 7 October 2022 until the next AGM of the Company to be held in 2023.

	 The current Directors’ remuneration payable to the Non-Executive Directors for the Company comprises meeting 
allowances.

	 In arriving at the estimated total remuneration payable to Non-Executive Directors, the Board took into consideration, 
among others, the number of scheduled meetings for the Board, Board Committees and general meetings of the 
Company, the number of Non-Executive Directors involved in these meetings and the appointment of additional 
Director(s) and unscheduled Board and/or Board Committee meetings, if any.

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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4.	 Re-election of Directors 

	 Pursuant to Clause 117 of the Company’s Constitution, one third (1/3) of the Directors shall retire from office at least 
once in every three (3) years at each AGM of the Company and the retiring Directors can offer themselves for re-
election. The Constitution also provides that a Director who is appointed during the year shall be subject to re-election 
at the next AGM to be held following his appointment pursuant to Clause 107 of the Company’s Constitution. 

	 Accordingly, Dato’ Lee Kok Chuan, Datuk Syed Hisham Bin Syed Wazir and Puan Adibah Khairiah Binti Ismail @ Daud 
shall retire by rotation at this Twelfth AGM pursuant to Clause 117 of the Company’s Constitution while Dato' Wan 
Kamaruzaman Bin Wan Ahmad who was appointed as Non-Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on 
8 October 2021, shall retire at this Twelfth AGM pursuant to Clause 107 of the Company’s Constitution. Dato’ Lee Kok 
Chuan, Datuk Syed Hisham Bin Syed Wazir, Puan Adibah Khairiah Binti Ismail @ Daud and Dato' Wan Kamaruzaman 
Bin Wan Ahmad being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

5.	 Authority to issue and allot shares pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act 

	 Ordinary Resolution 9 is proposed for the purpose of granting a renewed general mandate (“General Mandate”) and 
empowering the Directors of the Company, pursuant to Sections 75 and 76 of the Act, to issue and allot new shares 
in the Company from time to time at such price provided that the aggregate number of shares issued pursuant to the 
General Mandate does not exceed 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company for the time being. The 
General Mandate, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, will expire at the conclusion of the next 
AGM of the Company. 

	 The General Mandate will provide flexibility to the Company for any possible fund raising activities, including but 
not limited to further placing of shares, for purpose of funding future investment project(s), working capital and/or 
acquisitions. 

6.	 Proposed Renewal of Authority for the Company to purchase its own shares 

	 The proposed Ordinary Resolution 10, if passed, will provide the mandate for the Company to buy back its own shares 
up to a limit of 10% of the total number of issued shares of the Company (“Proposed Share Buy-Back Renewal”). 
Detailed information on the Proposed Share Buy-Back Renewal is set out in the Statement to Shareholders dated 30 
August 2022 which can be viewed and downloaded from the website of the Company at www.bauto.com.my and/or 
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad at www.bursamalaysia.com. 

7.	 Proxy and Entitlement of Attendance 

(i)	 A member of the Company who is entitled to attend, participate, speak (including posing questions to the Board 
via real time submission of typed texts) and vote remotely at the Twelfth AGM of the Company is entitled to 
appoint not more than two (2) proxies to exercise all or any of his/her rights to attend, participate, speak and vote 
in his/her stead. A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. 

 
(ii)	 A member, other than an authorised nominee or an exempt authorised nominee, may appoint not more than two 

(2) proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her shareholdings to 
be represented by each proxy. 

(iii)	 An authorised nominee, as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 (“SICDA”), may 
appoint at least one (1) proxy but not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities account. 

(iv)	 An exempt authorised nominee, as defined under the SICDA, and holding ordinary shares in the Company for 
multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), may appoint multiple proxies in 
respect of each of its omnibus account. 
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(v)	 An individual member who appoints a proxy must sign the Form of Proxy personally or by his attorney duly 
authorised in writing. A corporate member who appoints a proxy must execute the Form of Proxy under seal or 
under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised. 

(vi)	 The duly executed Form of Proxy shall be deposited with the Share Registrar of the Company at 11th Floor, Menara 
Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malayia or via 
electronic means through the Boardroom Smart Investor Portal at https://investor.boardroomlimited.com (Please 
follow the procedure as stipulated in the Administrative Details) not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time 
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be treated 
as valid. Any notice of termination of person’s authority to act as a proxy must be forwarded to the Company prior 
to the commencement of the Twelfth AGM or any adjournment thereof, as the case may be. 

(vii)	 Members and proxies would need to register as a user on the Boardroom Smart Investor Portal first before they 
can request for the Remote Participant User ID and password to virtually attend, participate, speak and vote at 
the Twelfth AGM, in accordance with the Administrative Details. 

(viii)	 Only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors as at 29 September 2022 shall be entitled to 
participate and/or vote at the Twelfth AGM or appoint a proxy(ies) to participate and/or vote in his/her stead at 
the Twelfth AGM.

(ix)	 Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in the proxy form are duly completed, signed and dated accordingly. 

(x)	 Last date and time for lodging the proxy form is Tuesday, 4 October 2022 at 10.00 a.m.

8.	 Poll voting 

	 Pursuant to Clause 82 of the Constitution of the Company and Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the Main Market Listing 
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all the resolutions set out in this Notice will be put to vote by way 
of poll. Poll Administrator and Independent Scrutineers are appointed to conduct the polling process and verify the 
results of the poll respectively.

Personal data privacy:

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to participate and vote at the Twelfth AGM and/
or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s 
personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and administration by the Company (or 
its agents) of proxies and representatives appointed for the Twelfth AGM (including any adjournment thereof) and the 
preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the Twelfth AGM (including 
any adjournment  thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, 
regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data 
of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained the prior 
consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or its agents) 
of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will 
indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the 
member’s breach of warranty.
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form OF proxy

I/We    
	 (Name in full)
NRIC or Company No.  CDS Account No.  
	 (New and Old NRIC Nos.)
of  
	 (Address)
being a member/members of BERMAZ AUTO BERHAD hereby appoint:

Name in full	 Proxy 1 NRIC/Passport No.: Proportion of shareholding to be 
represented by the proxy/proxies:

No. of Shares %

Address:

Mobile Number: Email Address:

And/or

Name in full	 Proxy 2 NRIC/Passport No.: Proportion of shareholding to be 
represented by the proxy/proxies:

No. of Shares %

Address:

Mobile Number: Email Address:

or failing him/her, the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Twelfth Annual General 
Meeting of the Company to be conducted on a virtual basis through live streaming from the broadcast venue at 12th Floor, Menara 
Symphony, No. 5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia on Thursday, 6 October 
2022 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.  

This proxy is to vote on the Resolutions set out in the Notice of the Meeting as indicated with an “X” in the appropriate spaces. If no 
specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his/her discretion.

RESOLUTION PROXY 1 PROXY 2

For Against For Against

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 1 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees for the financial year 
ended 30 April 2022.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 2 To approve the payment of Directors’ fees on a monthly basis 
for the period from 1 May 2022 until the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 3 To approve the payment of Directors’ remuneration (excluding 
Directors’ fees) for the period from 7 October 2022 until the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 4 To re-elect Dato' Lee Kok Chuan as Director.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 5 To re-elect Datuk Syed Hisham Bin Syed Wazir as Director.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 6 To re-elect Puan Adibah Khairiah Binti Ismail @ Daud as 
Director.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 7 To re-elect Dato' Wan Kamaruzaman Bin Wan Ahmad as 
Director.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 8 To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young PLT as Auditors.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 9 To approve the authority to issue and allot shares or grant 
rights.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 10 To renew the authority for the Company to purchase its own 
shares.

Dated this day  of  , 2022.

Signature(s)/Common Seal of Member(s)

No. of shares held
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form OF proxy

Note:

1.	 A member of the Company who is entitled to attend, participate, speak 
(including posing questions to the Board via real time submission of 
typed texts) and vote remotely at the Twelfth AGM of the Company is 
entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to exercise all or any 
of his/her rights to attend, participate, speak and vote in his/her stead. 
A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company.

2.	 A member, other than an authorised nominee or an exempt authorised 
nominee, may appoint not more than two (2) proxies, the appointment 
shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of his/her 
shareholdings to be represented by each proxy.

3.	 An authorised nominee, as defined under the Securities Industry 
(Central Depositories) Act 1991 (“SICDA”), may appoint at least one (1) 
proxy but not more than two (2) proxies in respect of each securities 
account.

4.	 An exempt authorised nominee, as defined under the SICDA, and 
holding ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners 
in one securities account (“omnibus account”), may appoint multiple 
proxies in respect of each of its omnibus account.

5.	 An individual member who appoints a proxy must sign the Form of Proxy 
personally or by his attorney duly authorised in writing. A corporate 
member who appoints a proxy must execute the Form of Proxy under 
seal or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised.

6.	 The duly executed Form of Proxy shall be deposited with the Share 
Registrar of the Company at 11th Floor, Menara Symphony, No. 5, Jalan 
Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul 
Ehsan, Malaysia or via electronic means through the Boardroom Smart 

Investor Portal at https://investor.boardroomlimited.com (Please follow 
the procedure as stipulated in the Administrative Details) not less than 
forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed holding for the meeting 
or adjourned meeting and in default the instrument of proxy shall not be 
treated as valid. Any notice of termination of person’s authority to act as 
a proxy must be forwarded to the Company prior to the commencement 
of the Twelfth AGM or any adjournment thereof, as the case may be. 

7.	 Members and proxies would need to register as a user on the Boardroom 
Smart Investor Portal first before they can request for the Remote 
Participant User ID and password to virtually attend, participate, speak 
and vote at the Twelfth AGM, in accordance with the Administrative 
Details.

8.	 Only members whose names appear in the Record of Depositors as at 
29 September 2022 shall be entitled to participate and/or vote at the 
Twelfth AGM or appoint a proxy(ies) to participate and/or vote in his/
her stead at the Twelfth AGM.

9.	 Please ensure ALL the particulars as required in the proxy form are duly 
completed, signed and dated accordingly. 

10.	 Last date and time for lodging the proxy form is Tuesday, 4 October 
2022 at 10.00 a.m.

11.	 Pursuant to Clause 82 of the Constitution of the Company and 
Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad, all the resolutions set out in this Notice 
will be put to vote by way of poll. Poll Administrator and Independent 
Scrutineers are appointed to conduct the polling process and verify the 
results of the poll respectively.

Personal Data Privacy:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the 
Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 30 August 2022.
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The Company Secretary
12th Floor, Menara Symphony, No.5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13, 46200 Petaling Jaya,  

Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia.
Tel: 03-7890 4800     Fax: 03-7890 4650

Bermaz Auto Berhad

12th Floor, Menara Symphony
No.5, Jalan Prof. Khoo Kay Kim, Seksyen 13
46200 Petaling Jaya, Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel	 :	 +603-7890 4800
Fax	 :	 +603-7890 4650

Bermaz Motor Sdn Bhd
Bermaz Motor Trading Sdn Bhd
Bermaz Anshin Sdn Bhd
Mazda Malaysia Sdn Bhd

No. 7, Jalan Pelukis U1/46
Temasya Industrial Park
Seksyen U1
40150 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel	 :	 +603-7627 8888
Fax	 :	 +603-7627 8890

Bermaz Auto Alliance Sdn Bhd

No. 15, Jalan Pelukis U1/46
Temasya Industrial Park
Seksyen U1
40150 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel 	 :	 +603-5021 2333
Fax	 :	 +603-7627 8890

Dinamikjaya Motors Sdn Bhd
Kia Malaysia Sdn Bhd

No. 1, Jalan Pelukis U1/46
Temasya Industrial Park
Seksyen U1
40150 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel 	 :	 +603-5033 3333
Fax	 :	 +603-7627 8890

Bermaz Auto Parts Sdn Bhd

No. 5, Jalan Pelukis U1/46
Temasya Industrial Park
Seksyen U1
40150 Shah Alam
Selangor Darul Ehsan
Tel 	 :	 +603-7627 8888
Fax	 :	 +603-7627 8890

Inokom Corporation Sdn Bhd

Lot 38, Mukim Padang Meha
Padang Serai
09400 Kulim
Kedah Darul Aman
Tel	 :	 +604-403 1888
Fax	 :	 +604-403 6888

Bermaz Motor International Ltd

Level 14A, Main Office Tower
Financial Park Labuan
Jalan Merdeka
87000 Federal Territory of Labuan
Tel	 :	 +6087-414 252
Fax	 :	 +6087-411 855

Bermaz Auto Philippines Inc

9th Floor, Rufino Building
6784 Ayala Avenue corner V.A. Rufino Street, San Lorenzo
Makati City, Metro Manila
Philippines
Tel	 :	 +632-8551 8000
Fax	 :	 +632-8551 0808

GROUP ADDRESSES



www.bauto.com.my


